
 
 

 

 
Meeting of:   

 
Engagement Board (Covid-19) 

Date: Wednesday, 30th September, 2020 
Time: 2.00 pm. 
Venue: Via Zoom 

 
This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by 
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 

Item 
No. 

AGENDA Page No 

1   Apologies   

 To receive any apologies for absence.  

2   Declarations of Interest   

 Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 

or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 

those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 

of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

 

3   Items for Exclusion of Public and Press   

 To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 

be excluded from the meeting. 

 

4   Appointment of Chair   

 To appoint a Chair to the Engagement Board.  

5   Terms of Reference  3 - 8 

 To approve the attached terms of reference for the Engagement 

Board. 

 

6   Intelligence Update   

 To receive a presentation updating the Board on the latest situation  

Public Document Pack



within the Borough. 

7   Outbreak Plan  9 - 65 

 To consider the attached report from the Director of  Public Health.  

8   Engagement Activity   

 To receive an update on engagement activites to date and forward 

planning. 

 

 

Engagement Board (Covid-19) Members 
 Councillor John Blundell 
Councillor Allen Brett Denise Dawson 
Councillor Ashley Dearnley Dr Chris Duffy 
Councillor Janet Emsley Councillor Kieran Heakin 
 Councillor Sara Rowbotham 
  
 

 



 

Report to Engagement Board 

 

 

Date of Meeting 23 September 2020 
Portfolio Councillor Rowbotham 

(Cabinet Member for 
Health & Wellbeing) 

Report Author Andrea Fallon (Director of 
Public Health) 

Public/Private Document Public 
 

 

Establishment of Sub-Committee 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1. 
 
 
 
 
 

In June 2020 local government and directors of public health were identified 
as critical in managing the next phase of the COVID-19 pandemic: testing, 
contact tracing and outbreak management. Local Authorities have been 
requested by Government to:  

 establish a member-led Local Outbreak Control Board. 
 establish a director of public health-led  Health Protection Board 

(leading on Covid-19). 
 develop a Local Outbreak Control Plan.  

 
The Board will be a formally constituted sub-committee of the Strategic Place 
Board which will appoint the Membership, appoint the Chair and approve 
terms of reference.  

 

Recommendation 

 
2. That the draft Terms of Reference be approved. 

 

Reason for Recommendation 

 
3. The Board will oversee the local delivery of the objectives of the strategy to 

reduce the spread of infection and save lives. 

 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4. 
 
 
 
4.1 
 
 
 

The NHS Test and Trace service is part of the Government’s COVID-19 
recovery strategy. It is aimed at controlling the COVID-19 rate of reproduction 
(R), reducing the spread of infection and saving lives. 
 
The strategy requires local authorities to work with partners to build on existing 
health protection plans to put in place measures to identify and contain 
outbreaks and protect the public’s health. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



4.2 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 
 
4.4 
 
 
 
4.5 
 
 
4.6 
 
 
4.7 
 
 
 
4.8 
 
 
 
 
4.9 

The strategy requires a public-facing board led by Council Members to 
communicate openly with the public in relation to the outbreak control plan. 
 
The sub-committee will focus on assuring that we have robust community 
engagement and that we are identifying and containing potential outbreaks in 
such places as schools, care homes and workplaces, and will work closely 
with the NHS, Public Health England and other local partners to achieve this. 
 
The Strategic Place Board is established in accordance with the requirements 
of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and it holds delegated authority to 
undertake statutory health and wellbeing functions on behalf of the Council. 
 
The sub-committee will be subject to scrutiny by the Health, Schools and Care 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
A Vice-Chairman will be nominated at the first public meeting. 
 
Board Support 
Rochdale Borough Council Governance Services are responsible for the 
distribution of the agenda and reports, recording minutes, maintaining the 
actions tracker and the organisation of the meetings. 
 
Rochdale Borough Council Public Health team are responsible for the Board 
forward plan, developing the agenda and support for Board members to fulfil 
their role. 
 
Alternatives Considered 
The Council is required to establish a body as part of the national Test and 
Trace Service, designed to control the rate of reproduction of Covid-19 by 
reducing the spread of the infection. 

 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5. There are no costs associated with the establishment of the sub-committee 

 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6. The risk of not having a robust local response in the context of national policies 

and guidance is the potential for increased spread of the virus and the impact 
of that on the health, wellbeing and wider impacts on individuals, communities 
and the Borough 

  

Consultation 

 
7. Consultation undertaken with Local Authorities, Executive Members, Partner 

Organisations. 

 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

Page 4



8. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/containing-
and-managing-local-coronavirus-covid-19-
outbreaks/covid-19-contain-framework-a-guide-for-
local-decision-makers#local-outbreak 

None applicable 

 

For Further Information Contact: Wendy Meston, 
Wendy.Meston@rochdale.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 5

mailto:Wendy.Meston@rochdale.gov.uk


 

 

 
ROCHDALE BOROUGH OUTBREAK CONTROL and ENGAGEMENT BOARD - 

COVID 19  
 

Overview – Aims of the Rochdale Borough Outbreak Control and Engagement Board 

The Rochdale Borough Outbreak Control and Engagement  Board (the Board) will provide assurance and 
oversight on behalf of the Strategic Place Board, that the response and recovery phases of the COVID 19 
pandemic includes: 

a. A robust Outbreak Control Plan, which meets both the requirements of Department of Health & 
Social Care and our local needs and ambitions  to manage and minimise the impact of COVID 19 
in the Borough of Rochdale 

b. Ensuring that there is ongoing provision of up to date and clear information in relation to the 
implementation of this plan for local agencies and the public, providing challenge and support 
where necessary.  

c. Oversight and assurance that there is ongoing two way communication and engagement with 
local people and organisations, especially those who are vulnerable and most at risk, in settings 
that present additional challenges and in communities where the impact of COVID 19 is greatest.  

 

Page 6



 

 

 

Key actions of the board 

The Board will have responsibility: 

1. To ensure that we have a robust Borough Outbreak Control Plan and implementation programme 

2. The Board will oversee the ongoing development of local communication and engagement plans 
with residents, families, businesses and communities  

3. The Board will oversee and advise on work completed and planned  to minimise the negative 
impacts of any measures necessary for the management of COVID 19 on residents 

4. The Board will provide challenge and support to agencies, on behalf of local people and in the 
pursuit of reducing inequalities arising from or exacerbated by COVID 19 

5. The Board will advise on building trust and participation in the Test and Trace programme, and 
provide oversight for the expansion of these programmes to ensure equitable access.  

6. The Board will oversee and promote the work of our community response and ensure that that we 
work closely with Community and Voluntary groups to ensure the sector is supported to work with 
local people.  

7. The Board will oversee and make recommendations to all agencies to ensure that higher risk 
residents and groups are appropriately identified and supported 

8. To provide assurance that materials are co-produced with the target groups use local insights and 
that they address the key issues that our communities are raising 

9. To recommend  measures to assess the success of the above, and to ensure that any learning 
from covid-19 is embedded in future planning 

10. The Board will check  that Recovery Plans are in place and that plans are in place to reduce or 
mitigate inequalities in all outcome areas 

 

Accountability Arrangements 
 
The Board will be formally constituted under the auspices of the Public Health and Health Protection 
duties of Rochdale Borough Council, and will be a Sub-Committee appointed by the Rochdale Borough 
Place Board (Health and Wellbeing Board). 
 

Decisions of the Board are advisory and its recommendations will be considered through the 
Council's governance arrangements and those of the appropriate bodies which will retain their 
decision making sovereignty. 
 

The Sub-Committee will be subject to scrutiny by the Health, Schools and Care Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 7



 

 

 
 
 

Membership 
 
Council appointment  

 Council Leader or Deputy (Chair) 

 Cabinet Portfolio Holders for Children 

 Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhoods, Community and Culture 

 Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Health and Wellbeing 

 Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Regeneration, Business, Skills & Employment  

 Member of Opposition (political balance to apply) 
 
Co-opted appointments 

 CCG Lay member 

 VCSE Infrastructure Support (Action Together) 

 Healthwatch 
 
Supporting Officers 

 Communications lead  

 Director of Public Health and Wellbeing  

 Consultant in Public Health 

 Director of Integrated Commissioning 

 Director of Children’s Services 

 Director of Neighbourhoods,  

 HMR CCG Chair/representative 

 One Rochdale Health and Care Representative 

 Clinical Network Representative 
 
 

Chairing Arrangements 
 
To be appointed by the Strategic Place Board 
 

Frequency of Meetings 
 
Every 6 weeks 
 

Quoracy 
 
Three Councillors plus one other member of the Board. 
 

 

Page 8



 

Report to Engagement Board 

 

 

Date of Meeting 23 September 2020 
Portfolio Health and Wellbeing 
Report Author Wendy Meston 
Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

 
Rochdale Borough Outbreak Control Plan – Covid-19 

 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1. As part of the response to the Covid-19 each locality had to produce an 

Outbreak Plan for Covid-19 to explain how local areas will prevent and 
respond to a localised outbreak of coronavirus. 
 
This plan sets out our local response working within the context of a Greater 
Manchester and national response. The initial plan was developed by public 
health experts on behalf of local experts to respond specifically to the 
coronavirus and Covid-19 disease. This has been built upon and within the 
context of a broader Outbreak Control Plan which this supports rather than 
replaces. 
 
The plan sets our approach to outbreak control for coronavirus. It supports 
the work of local agencies in order to maximise our efforts to control the 
spread of the virus and to reduce the consequences of infections to 
individuals, settings and communities. 
 
The plan is a working document and will continue to evolve and be informed 
by local circumstances and emerging evidence  
 

 

 

Recommendation 

 
2. To receive an update from the Director of Public Health and Wellbeing on 

the Outbreak Plan and to note the publication of the local Pan 
 

Reason for Recommendation 

 
3. To provide strategic oversight and assurance that the  Plan is in line with 

local strategies and priorities 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 7



 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4.  

 
4.1 

To note that during an outbreak, action evolves and changes as evidence 
and we learn more about the impact of the virus develops. It has been 
agreed that the EIA for the Plan be refreshed and will be submitted to the 
next meeting alongside findings from recent local events. 
 
 
Alternatives Considered 
 
The plan was a national requirement  

 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5. The costs of Covid-19 and impacts are significant but are covered by 

separate reports 

 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6.       A robust plan is essential to prevent the direct and indirect impact of the virus 
          on local people, settings and communities  
 

 

Consultation 

 
7. The Plan was considered by the existing emergency structures in place for 

this outbreak and was agreed as an initial plan by Gold  

 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

8. http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2020-
07-06-coronavirus-management-
plan-v1.pdf 
 

 

 

For Further Information Contact: Andrea Fallon 
Andrea.Fallon@rochdale.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 10

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2020-07-06-coronavirus-management-plan-v1.pdf
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2020-07-06-coronavirus-management-plan-v1.pdf
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2020-07-06-coronavirus-management-plan-v1.pdf
mailto:Andrea.Fallon@rochdale.gov.uk


 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

COVID-19 OUTBREAK CONTROL PLAN 

Rochdale Borough Council 

Page 11



1 | P a g e  
 

 

  

 

Version Amendments Made Approved By Date Approved Date Issued 

0.1 Kuiama Thompson, Amit Gaokar,  Lianne Davies Kuiama Thompson 24.06.20 24.06.20 

0.2 Amit Gaokar, Kuiama Thompson Kuiama Thompson 25.06.20  

0.4 Andrea Fallon, Lianne Davies, Kuiama Thompson, 

Addition of Chapter 1 and Chapter 8 

Amendment to Testing Chapter 

Andrea Fallon 

Steve Rumbelow 

30.06.20 30.06.20 

      
 

Page 12



2 | P a g e  
 

 

Contents 
1. Chapter One: Introduction, Overview and Governance..........................................................................5 

1.1 Background ..............................................................................................................................................5 

1.2 Introduction .............................................................................................................................................5 

1.3 Objectives ................................................................................................................................................6 

1.4 Principles of COVID-19 Management ......................................................................................................6 

1.5 Key Risks ..................................................................................................................................................6 

1.6 Governance / Command and Control .....................................................................................................7 

2. Chapter Two: Priority Groups for protecting people from COVID-19 .....................................................9 

3. Chapter Three: Prevention ................................................................................................................... 12 

3.1 Hand hygiene ........................................................................................................................................ 12 

3.2 Self-isolation ......................................................................................................................................... 13 

3.3 Social Distancing ................................................................................................................................... 13 

3.4 Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) .................................................................................................. 14 

3.5 Cleaning and disinfection ..................................................................................................................... 14 

3.6 Infectious Waste Management ............................................................................................................ 14 

3.7 Assessments for Workplace and Workforce Readiness ....................................................................... 15 

3.8 Closure of settings ................................................................................................................................ 16 

3.9 Prevention Appendices ........................................................................................................................ 17 

4. Chapter Four: Testing ........................................................................................................................... 18 

4.1 Current testing available ...................................................................................................................... 19 

4.2 Our Local Offer ..................................................................................................................................... 22 

Single Point of Access (SPOA) .................................................................................................................... 22 

Tests through national labs ....................................................................................................................... 23 

Mobile testing unit (MTU) ......................................................................................................................... 24 

Whole care home testing .......................................................................................................................... 24 

Walk-in testing site (also referred to as a Local Test Site (LTS) ................................................................. 24 

Additional support for the most vulnerable .............................................................................................. 25 

Antibody testing (Pillar 3) .......................................................................................................................... 25 

Antibody Testing Programme .................................................................................................................... 25 

Local provision of antibody testing ........................................................................................................... 25 

5. Chapter Five: Contact Tracing .............................................................................................................. 27 

5.1 National Test and Trace Roles and Responsibilities (Levels 2 and 3) ................................................... 27 

5.2 Regional Tier (Level 1b) ........................................................................................................................ 27 

5.3 Engagement between GM Hub and Localities ..................................................................................... 28 

Page 13



3 | P a g e  
 

5.4 Locality Level Contact Tracing .............................................................................................................. 30 

5.5 Transferring Data and Information: ..................................................................................................... 30 

5.6 Contact Tracing Appendices ................................................................................................................. 31 

6. Chapter Six: Vulnerable Groups ........................................................................................................... 32 

6.1 Who are our vulnerable groups? .......................................................................................................... 32 

6.2 Current Offer ........................................................................................................................................ 32 

Emergency helpline and 5 virtual local response centres (hubs) .............................................................. 32 

Specific activity reaching out to protect our vulnerable groups ............................................................... 33 

6.3 Additional Work to Support Test, Trace and Contain .......................................................................... 33 

Key Actions: ............................................................................................................................................... 34 

Coordination of local communications and engagement: ........................................................................ 34 

Maximise the number of vulnerable people accessing a test: .................................................................. 35 

Continue with wider proactive and preventative work with particular settings and communities ......... 35 

7. Chapter Seven: Complex Settings ........................................................................................................ 37 

7.1 Care Homes .......................................................................................................................................... 37 

Prevention ................................................................................................................................................. 37 

Testing ....................................................................................................................................................... 38 

Contact Tracing .......................................................................................................................................... 39 

Outbreak management ............................................................................................................................. 39 

Consequence Management ....................................................................................................................... 40 

Guidance .................................................................................................................................................... 40 

7.2 Schools .................................................................................................................................................. 41 

Prevention ................................................................................................................................................. 41 

Testing ....................................................................................................................................................... 42 

Outbreak Management ............................................................................................................................. 42 

Contact Tracing .......................................................................................................................................... 43 

Consequence Management ....................................................................................................................... 43 

8. Chapter Eight: High Risk Settings ......................................................................................................... 44 

8.1 Health Care Settings: ............................................................................................................................ 44 

Primary Care .............................................................................................................................................. 44 

Dentists ...................................................................................................................................................... 44 

Acute/Community Care ............................................................................................................................. 45 

Mental Health ............................................................................................................................................ 45 

8.2 Community Settings: ............................................................................................................................ 47 

Mosques .................................................................................................................................................... 47 

Page 14



4 | P a g e  
 

Shared Temporary Accommodation for RBC (Homelessness Service) ...................................................... 48 

Rough Sleeper and Wider Statutory Homeless Cohort ............................................................................. 49 

Traveller Sites ............................................................................................................................................ 50 

8.3 Business Settings .................................................................................................................................. 51 

9. Chapter Nine: Data Integration ............................................................................................................ 54 

9.1 Intelligence Oversight ........................................................................................................................... 54 

 

 

Page 15



5 | P a g e  
 

Chapter One: Introduction, Overview and Governance 
 

1.1 Background 

 
This Outbreak Control Plan has been developed by Public Health experts within Rochdale on behalf of all local 

partners. It sets out our approach to Outbreak Control for SARS-CoV-2 (Coronavirus) and subsequent COVID-

19 disease. It supports the work of local agencies, its purpose being to maximise our efforts to control the 

spread of the virus, and to reduce the consequences of infections for individuals, settings and communities.   

The plan is a ‘live’ document, being produced in line with national policy whilst maintaining the most up to 

date links to national, regional and where appropriate local guidance. It should not be read in isolation, and 

should be considered in tandem with ‘Greater Manchester's COVID-19 Management Plan: how we control 

outbreaks’ (June 2020).  

 

The control and management of COVID-19 is a whole system endeavour requiring close partnership working 

with national, regional (in our case Greater Manchester) and local expert partners. This report focuses on the 

local component of this system.   

 

The plan is owned by Rochdale Borough Council via the Director of Public Health, on behalf of local partners 

and is authorised by Rochdale Place Board (Health and Wellbeing Board) via Rochdale Borough Council. Its 

further development will be supported by new multi-agency governance arrangements, which will also 

support its maintenance. 

 

1.2 Introduction 

 
COVID-19 Outbreak Control Plans are being created at the request of national government to explain how 

local areas will collectively manage the spread of the SARS-CoV-2 virus. This local plan sets out how this will 

work in Rochdale Borough, with part of our local response being delivered via a newly developed GM ‘Hub’ 

which allows us to tap into existing and new shared resources. 

The UK has been responding to COVID-19 since 31st January 2020 when it was confirmed that a Level 4 National 

Incident had been declared for the NHS.  On 11th March 2020 the World Health Organisation declared COVID-

19 a pandemic resulting in the UK Government putting in place “Contain” and “Delay” phases in order to stop 

the spread of the virus and manage its wider impact.  

 

This COVID-19 Outbreak Control Plan has been developed to respond specifically to SARS-CoV-2 virus and 

should be considered alongside the broader Rochdale Outbreak Control Plan (2019) which it supports rather 

than replaces.   

 

Throughout this plan the relative roles and responsibilities of National Government, GM and Rochdale 

Borough are defined. The development of an outbreak control plan is seen as critical to managing the spread 

of the virus, and is an essential tool in developing robust arrangements to “Test, Trace, Contain and Enable” 

as set out by national government.  

The ‘Test, Trace, Contain and Enable’ approach is a joint approach to reduce transmission, protect the 

vulnerable and prevent increased demand on healthcare services. The development of a collaborative GM 

approach has assisted: 

 

● Whole system team working 

Page 16



6 | P a g e  
 

● Best use of scarce resources to bolster system capacity 

● Flexibility to move capacity between localities to manage demand 

● Consistency 

● Learning 

● Effective cross-border working 

● Overall enhanced system resilience 

 

1.3 Objectives 

 
The objectives of this plan are  

 To provide an overview of the key control measures available, including those relating to the DHSC 

test, trace, contain and enable approach and associated key themes 

● To outline the national, GM and Rochdale system roles and responsibilities  

● To outline the command and control arrangements in place  

● To set out the communications and engagement arrangements as well as the financial and legal 

context  

 

1.4 Principles of COVID-19 Management 

 
Nationally, the Association of Directors of Public Health identified four principles for the Design and 

Operationalisation of local Outbreak Control Plans and arrangements, including local plans for contact tracing. 

These are stated below. These principles can function as standards or tests for local systems to use in 

determining whether their arrangements have been developed in a way which will enable maximum impact 

and effectiveness. 

 

The prevention and management of the transmission of COVID-19 should: 

 

1. Be rooted in public health systems and leadership  

2. Adopt a whole system approach  

3. Be delivered through an efficient and locally effective and responsive system including being 

informed by timely access to data and intelligence  

4. Be sufficiently resourced  

 

1.5 Key Risks 

 
There are several key strategic risks that have emerged through the work undertaken since COVID-19 was 

identified. These can be summarised as follows: 

 

● Workforce capacity and capability – immediate, short- and medium-term 

● Lack of clarity around anticipated levels of demand 

● Provision of extended hours and out of hours capacity 

● Business Continuity impact on local systems, businesses and economies 

● Concerns around levels of adherence to self-isolation advice and guidance 

● Lack of clarity around national statements relating to “local lockdowns” and limitations to 

enforcement options. 

● Access to testing and timely provision of results 

● Capturing and sharing data and activity 

Page 17



7 | P a g e  
 

● Sustainability of local support arrangements for shielded / vulnerable cohorts. 

● Gaps in provision for other potentially vulnerable groups. 

● Clarity around roles and responsibilities 

● Unpredictable nature of ‘complexity’ 

 

The Rochdale COVID-19 Outbreak Control Plan will, seek to address and outline our local approach taken to 

address the above. 

 

1.6 Governance / Command and Control 

 
Responsibilities: 

Public Health Protection will take a lead on: 

● Monitoring and contributing to the surveillance of new and emerging outbreaks 

● Identifying and implementing national and local Public Health actions in both clinical and non-

clinical settings 

● Leading on testing and contact tracing systems as part of the wider Test, Trace, Contain and Enable 

strategy 

● Providing scientific and technical oversight and give subsequent advice on required changes to 

policy and practice 

● Continued oversight of implementation and Infection Prevention Control Teams 

● Continued assurance and work towards closure of this COVID-19 control plan. 

 

Reporting: 

The implementation of this Outbreak Control Plan will be led by a newly established Rochdale Health 

Protection Board, and governed by the Rochdale Place Board. It will report weekly to Multi-agency Gold 

Command (or its replacement thereafter) and provide advice and guidance to a new Rochdale COVID-19 

(Member Led) Engagement Board. It will provide updates as required to the full range of relevant multiagency 

senior stakeholder Boards and teams within Rochdale including 

 

 Rochdale Borough Place Board (includes Health & Wellbeing Board) (as above) 

 Rochdale COVID-19 Multi-agency Gold Command (as above) 

 Rochdale Borough Joint Leadership Team (LA & CCG)  

 Rochdale Integrated Commissioning Board (LA and CCG) 

 One Rochdale Health and Care (LCO) 

 Rochdale Recovery and Resilience Group. 

 Rochdale Safer Communities Partnership 

 (NEW) Rochdale Health Protection Board (see below) 

 (NEW) Rochdale COVID-19 Engagement Board (member led) (see below) 

 
  

Page 18



8 | P a g e  
 

Summary of roles of the two new boards 

 

NEW: Rochdale Health Protection Board 

(officer led) 

 NEW: Rochdale COVID-19 Engagement 

Board (member led) 

Multi agency board, reporting to Gold level equivalent 

Board. Chaired by DPH - Silver level board, reporting 

to SCG, and advising Member led board 

 Co-ordination of key health protection elements 

of COVID-19 

 Oversee data management analysis and 

interpretation 

 Test and trace – ensuring delivery and uptake 

 PPE – supplies  

 Infection prevention and control 

 Outbreaks – managing and preventing 

 Approval and dissemination of local guidance  

 Make recommendations to Gold re policy/further 

actions 

 Internal communications and recommending 

wider public comms and engagement  

 

 

 Member led, reporting to Health and Wellbeing 

Board (Place Board). Chaired by lead member/s, 

focused on: 

 Communication and engagement with the 

general public, & develop local support to 

reduce the risk of spread of COVID-19 

 To minimise the negative impacts of any such 

measures on local people including specified 

sub-population groups, and 

families/individuals 

 To build trust and participation in the Test and 

Trace programme 

 Link to and promote the work of the 

community hubs 

 To ensure that higher risk groups are 

appropriately identified and supported 

 To co-produce materials with the VCSE and 

public 

 To develop measures to assess the success of 

the above, and to ensure that any learning 

from COVID-19 is embedded in future 

planning 

 Report to Place Board 

 

Outline (interim) governance structure 

 

(Note that structures likely to change as Gold/Recovery and other silver levels groups are reviewed over time 

reflecting emphasis shift from response to recovery) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Health Protection 

Board  

(Response focus) 

Chair: DPH – 

(Outbreak Control)  

  

  

Gold  

Chaired by Chief Executive 

Member Led 

Engagement 

Board 

Chair: lead 

member/s 

Place Board (H&WBB) 

 

Chair: Deputy Leader 

Other  

Silver level  

Groups 

Page 19



9 | P a g e  
 

Chapter Two: Priority Groups for protecting people from COVID-19 
 

We know that outcomes from COVID-19 vary. A good strategy is to protect those known to be most at risk of 

a bad outcome from COVID-19, with a bad outcome being defined as death or hospitalisation.   

The probability of a bad outcome comes from two things; the person’s individual risk of a bad outcome and 

the likelihood of getting infected. Lowering this probability can be the bedrock of our strategic response. 

 

The population can be stratified according to their likelihood of a bad outcome, and priority groups therefore 

identified. Nearly all the deaths from COVID-19 occurred in high risk groups that can be defined. Nationally, 

over 93% of deaths occurred in people 60 years and older. The probability of death during the first wave was 

extremely low in the young, then very low in anyone under 40, but was very high in the elderly. Broadly there 

are three priority groups in which successful actions would lead to many fewer deaths in the whole population. 

These are: 

 

 Group One - those that are innately at high risk of a bad outcome due to their biological susceptibility. 

E.g. person over 85 years of age 

 Group Two – those that due to a combination of their innate risk profile and lifestyle or occupation 

are at a higher risk of a bad outcome. E.g. 60 year old taxi driver 

 Group Three - those who are themselves not at high risk from the virus but who come into contact 

with people who are at high risk. 

 

Summary Table 

 

Priority 

Group 

Who Included Why included 

Group 1A  All residents of residential nursing homes 

and residential care homes and the frail 

elderly 

 All people aged 85 or older 

 All people who because of a health 

condition or treatment were asked to 

“shield” 

Residential and nursing homes and 

those over 85 had very high death 

rates from COVID-19 and also higher 

overall mortality. 

Shielded groups have known 

biological mechanisms that make 

them susceptible to a bad outcome 

and likely have very high risk   

Group 1B  BAME men aged 70 or older and BAME 

women aged 75 or older 

 All men aged 73 or older and all women 

aged 77 or over  

 People over the age of 60 and also have an 

existing health condition – 

o a lung condition that's not severe (such as 

asthma, COPD, emphysema or bronchitis) 

o heart disease (such as heart failure) 

o diabetes,  chronic kidney disease 

o liver disease (such as hepatitis) 

o a condition affecting the brain or nerves 

(such as Parkinson's disease, motor 

The combination of age and ethnicity 

increases risk of fatality in this group 

to around 3% 

 

Age is the single best predictor of a 

bad outcome and local men over 75 

and local women over 77 had a case 

fatality rate above 3% 

 

Again the combination of health 

issue and age is important in 

increasing risk above the 3% 

threshold  

Page 20



10 | P a g e  
 

neurone disease, multiple sclerosis or 

cerebral palsy) 

o a condition that means they have a high 

risk of getting infections 

o taking medicine that can affect the 

immune system (such as low doses of 

steroids), very obese (a BMI of 40 or above) 

 

Group 1C  People for which new data places them 

into a very high risk group. This may include 

a genetic component  

This group likely exists and may 

explain some deaths in younger 

people. It may be possible to identify 

these people and ensure they are 

adequately protected.   

Group 2  Men aged 50 or over and women aged 55 

or over who are working in higher risk 

settings. These include: 

o Working with or in a setting with COVID-19 

patient.   

o Work that requires coming into contact 

with large numbers of different people in 

enclosed spaces.  

o Work which requires regular unavoidable 

close contact with more than two others 

 

 People aged 70 or over who live in 

households with three or more other 

adults.  

 

 People aged 40 or over who have difficulty 

with understanding or sticking to social 

distancing rules and come into contact 

with multiple others. This will likely include 

some people with personality disorders, 

dementia and cognitive disability.  

 

 People who are homeless and do not have 

safe accommodation. 

Risk increases rapidly after 50 in all 

men and 55 in all women. We know 

that likelihood of getting infected is 

higher the more contacts you have 

especially with people that are 

positive for the virus. 

 

 

 

 

Being over 70 is a risk factor and 

likelihood of infection increases the 

more close contacts with adults you 

have.  

 

Being younger than 40 is highly 

protective. Some people will place 

themselves at risk due to cognitive 

issues, this will increase infection risk 

and this will matter most in older 

people.  

 

Homeless people often have 

multiple health issues and being 

homeless makes isolation and social 

distancing very difficult 

Group 3 People working in a residential care setting 

including residential care and nursing homes, 

women’s refuges, prisons, and hostels that 

have close contact with multiple others.  

 

Workers of any age who work in 

institutional settings need to be a 

priority as alone they cause an 

important deadly outbreak.   

 

Workers of any age who have 

intimate contact with others are a 

Page 21



11 | P a g e  
 

People in roles including temporary roles which 

involve working across settings and also 

involves care or intimate contact with others.  

 

Sex workers and people providing intimate 

services outside of the normal economy 

 

People who are sharing drug use equipment or 

engaging in high risk activities such as having 

multiple sexual partners. 

priority as they can cause multiple 

infections. 

    

People who provide intimate 

services are a priority because of 

infection risk   

People who engage in high risk 

behaviour which involves sharing 

body fluids present a risk of  infection 

potentially to numerous people 

  

 

 

We have, and will continue to use this insight to inform the delivery of this plan.  We are working to understand 

our populations according this approach, and to target and prioritise interventions accordingly. 

  

Page 22



12 | P a g e  
 

Chapter Three: Prevention 
 

As currently there is no vaccine or a substantive cure for the virus, it is extremely important to implement 

measures that help prevent and control the spread of infection. Infection prevention and control is the 

understanding of how infections occur and spread. Preventive measures are the current strategy to limit the 

spread of cases, and this chapter describes these measures and how they have been implemented in Rochdale. 

 

Early identification, isolation, and treatment are crucial to prevent further spread and as such, increasing 

testing for detecting COVID-19 positive cases in the community will also enable the reduction of secondary 

cases with strict adherence to isolation guidelines (Chapter Four: Testing). Contact tracing is another well-

established method of preventing and controlling outbreaks. If done swiftly, this can contain outbreaks within 

a small population, and even when the disease is widespread, will still help to inhibit the transmission (Chapter 

Five: Contact Tracing). Although currently a vaccine is not available, it is hoped that vaccination will be an 

important means of primary prevention, providing a level of acquired immunity, and will also protect the 

susceptible individuals within a population. If and when the vaccine is available, a framework will be developed 

to provide specific information and advice on the provision of vaccine, and a mass vaccination programme 

required to contain the outbreak. Effective management of the outbreaks in various settings has also played 

a key role in containing the virus, timely reducing illness and limiting the complications resulting from COVID-

19, informing our existing and future prevention strategies and above all addressing the public distress. 

 

Preventive measures should be implemented proactively and with active community engagement in order to 

reduce the impact of the epidemic and to delay its transmission. Measures taken should primarily aim at 

protecting the most vulnerable population groups from severe illness and fatal outcome by reducing 

transmission in the general population. In Rochdale, our prevention approach is also led by identifying the 

priority groups which are at most risk (Chapter Two: Priority Groups for protecting people from COVID-19) and 

need the highest level of protection from the infection. We are ensuring that these groups are prioritised in 

our planning for implementation of preventative measures and are effectively supported to minimise their 

risk. 

 

A range of protective measures are implemented and followed in Rochdale to create safer environments in 

which the risk of spreading the virus is substantially reduced, these include, 

 

 Promoting good hand hygiene 

 Advising on Social distancing and Self isolation  

 Providing clear guidance on cleaning and disinfection to reduce contact points 

 Providing advice on use of correct personal protective equipment (PPE) when needed 

 Effective management of infectious waste products 

 Closure of settings to contain the spread 

 

3.1 Hand hygiene 

 
Hand washing and sanitisation is one of the most important strategies for the population to undertake to 
reduce the risk of transmission in the community. Hand washing has proven to be the key in removing the 
virus from our hands and preventing transmission. In Rochdale, as part of our infection prevention and control 
(IPC) approach, the IPC leads regularly provide advice on adherence to correct handwashing procedures and 
are working with various settings to improve access to hand washing/ sanitisation facilities.  
 

Page 23



13 | P a g e  
 

Providing access to hand washing facilities and use of sanitizer with a content of 60% alcohol, is established in 

LA buildings and schools, information has been cascaded through to workplaces, retail and outdoor facilities. 

An effective hand washing campaign linked to the national information and guidance focussing on the 

importance of washing hands more often has been rolled out, which also advises about hand washing in 

specific scenarios. Communication from national guidance has been cascaded with local information on how 

to implement measures in different settings through social media channels and the council website with FAQ’s.  

 

Relevant Guidance: 

 

 http://council.rochdale.local/media/news/corp/Pages/Public-information-on-coronavirus.aspx  

 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/public-information-campaign-focuses-on-handwashing 

 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file

/886668/COVID-19_Infection_prevention_and_control_guidance_complete.pdf  

 https://healthcare-in-europe.com/en/news/study-shows-hand-washing-is-key-against-COVID-

19.html 

 

3.2 Self-isolation 

 
People with symptoms should be staying at home to help prevent the spread of the virus to family, friends, 
the wider community, and particularly those who are clinically extremely vulnerable. Staying at home for 14 
days will greatly reduce the overall amount of infection the household could pass on to others in the 
community. 
 
The guidance on self-isolation has been clearly communicated in Rochdale by provision of direct support and 

advice to various community settings through the Infection Control Duty Desk and risk assessments 

undertaken for various sites and workplaces within the borough.  

 

Relevant Guidance: 

 

 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file

/874011/Stay_at_home_guidance_diagram.pdf 

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/COVID-19-stay-at-home-guidance 

 http://council.rochdale.local/media/news/corp/Pages/Public-information-on-coronavirus.aspx 

 

3.3 Social Distancing 

 
Coronaviruses can be spread when people infected with virus have close, sustained contact with those who 

are not infected. This typically means spending more than 15 minutes within two metres of an infected person, 

or one minute within one metre. In recent months across the country, social distancing has played a vital role 

in minimising the risk of transmission of the virus through close contacts. We have observed a similar trend in 

Rochdale around adherence to social distancing. This has been greatly achieved as a result of raising 

awareness, markings in outdoor places, visual reminders via posters, and use of social media. Support and 

advice on guidance has also been provided by undertaking risk assessments for various settings, such as 

workplaces, schools, council building sites and businesses working closely with Public Protection. 

 

Relevant Guidance: 

 

Page 24

http://council.rochdale.local/media/news/corp/Pages/Public-information-on-coronavirus.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/public-information-campaign-focuses-on-handwashing
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/886668/COVID-19_Infection_prevention_and_control_guidance_complete.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/886668/COVID-19_Infection_prevention_and_control_guidance_complete.pdf
https://healthcare-in-europe.com/en/news/study-shows-hand-washing-is-key-against-covid-19.html
https://healthcare-in-europe.com/en/news/study-shows-hand-washing-is-key-against-covid-19.html
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/874011/Stay_at_home_guidance_diagram.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/874011/Stay_at_home_guidance_diagram.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-stay-at-home-guidance
http://council.rochdale.local/media/news/corp/Pages/Public-information-on-coronavirus.aspx


14 | P a g e  
 

 https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2020/03/04/coronavirus-COVID-19-what-is-social-

distancing/ 

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/staying-alert-and-safe-social-distancing/staying-alert-

and-safe-social-distancing 

 http://council.rochdale.local/media/news/corp/Pages/Public-information-on-coronavirus.aspx 

 

3.4 Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 

 
PPE is designed to protect from harmful substances such as infectious agents. In a pandemic situation, it can 
help prevent the transmission of an infection between staff and patients/residents in a care setting or home 
care. There is significant collaborative working wherever possible to ensure that any PPE procured or acquired 
is to be used according to national clinical guidance. The council and CCG have worked closely to develop a 
central repository for the supply of PPE for various settings. A separate arrangement has also been put in place 
for schools. PPE is supplied to settings upon request in line with national guidance and in consultation with 
local public health and infection control team via the IPC duty desk. PPE Training is also being delivered in care 
homes as formal HSE requirement for anyone using a FFP3 respiratory being fit tested and as a support for 
care homes who are experiencing outbreaks and required training to ensure there was good understanding in 
the use of routine PPE amongst care home staff.  
 
Relevant Guidance: 

 

 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file

/879221/Coronavirus__COVID-19__-_personal_protective_equipment__PPE__plan.pdf  

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-infection-prevention-and-

control/COVID-19-personal-protective-equipment-ppe  

 https://www.rcn.org.uk/get-help/rcn-advice/personal-protective-equipment-ppe-and-COVID-19  

  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-infection-prevention-and-

control/managing-shortages-in-personal-protective-equipment-ppe  

 http://council.rochdale.local/resources/HR/_layouts/15/WopiFrame.aspx?sourcedoc=/resources/HR

/SafetyTeam/Personal_Protective_Equipment_(PPE).docx&action=default&DefaultItemOpen=1 

 

3.5 Cleaning and disinfection 

 
The delivery of high quality cleaning is complex, demanding, and is intrinsically linked to infection prevention 

and control. All surfaces that the symptomatic person has come into contact with must be cleaned and 

disinfected, including objects which are visibly contaminated with body fluids and all potentially contaminated 

high-contact areas. Communication from national guidance around cleaning and disinfection has been 

regularly provided through the IPC Duty Desk and forms part of the risk assessments undertaken for various 

sites and settings in the borough. 

 
Relevant Guidance: 

 

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/COVID-19-decontamination-in-non-healthcare-

settings/COVID-19-decontamination-in-non-healthcare-settings 

 https://www.hse.gov.uk/coronavirus/cleaning/index.htm 

 

3.6 Infectious Waste Management 

 

Page 25

https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2020/03/04/coronavirus-covid-19-what-is-social-distancing/
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2020/03/04/coronavirus-covid-19-what-is-social-distancing/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/staying-alert-and-safe-social-distancing/staying-alert-and-safe-social-distancing
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/staying-alert-and-safe-social-distancing/staying-alert-and-safe-social-distancing
http://council.rochdale.local/media/news/corp/Pages/Public-information-on-coronavirus.aspx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/879221/Coronavirus__COVID-19__-_personal_protective_equipment__PPE__plan.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/879221/Coronavirus__COVID-19__-_personal_protective_equipment__PPE__plan.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-infection-prevention-and-control/covid-19-personal-protective-equipment-ppe
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-infection-prevention-and-control/covid-19-personal-protective-equipment-ppe
https://www.rcn.org.uk/get-help/rcn-advice/personal-protective-equipment-ppe-and-covid-19
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-infection-prevention-and-control/managing-shortages-in-personal-protective-equipment-ppe
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-infection-prevention-and-control/managing-shortages-in-personal-protective-equipment-ppe
http://council.rochdale.local/resources/HR/_layouts/15/WopiFrame.aspx?sourcedoc=/resources/HR/SafetyTeam/Personal_Protective_Equipment_(PPE).docx&action=default&DefaultItemOpen=1
http://council.rochdale.local/resources/HR/_layouts/15/WopiFrame.aspx?sourcedoc=/resources/HR/SafetyTeam/Personal_Protective_Equipment_(PPE).docx&action=default&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-decontamination-in-non-healthcare-settings/covid-19-decontamination-in-non-healthcare-settings
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-decontamination-in-non-healthcare-settings/covid-19-decontamination-in-non-healthcare-settings
https://www.hse.gov.uk/coronavirus/cleaning/index.htm


15 | P a g e  
 

The management and disposal of waste for residents with confirmed or suspected cases of COVID-19 is an 
essential part of ensuring that settings do not pose a risk of infection and are appropriately managed especially 
during times of outbreak of infection. 
 

There are different types of waste management:- 

 Waste from cleaning people or places infected, or potentially infected, with coronavirus (COVID-19). 

 Separately collected personal protective equipment (PPE) waste, for example used facemasks and 

gloves, from commercial premises and produced as a result of social distancing measures 

 

Personal waste such as used tissues and disposable cleaning cloths can be stored securely within disposable 

rubbish bags. These bags should be placed into another bag, tied securely and kept separate from other waste 

for at least 72 hours before being put in your usual external household waste bin. Other household waste can 

be disposed of as normal. 

 
The information and guidance on personal and non-personal waste management has been delivered through 

the council website, via the IPC duty desk and included in the risk assessments. Local summary guidance 

documents have also been produced to highlight the salient points within the national guidance documents 

and sent out to relevant stakeholders and partners, with IPC duty desk being the main contact point for 

support and triage. 

 

Relevant Guidance: 

 

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/COVID-19-decontamination-in-non-healthcare-

settings/COVID-19-decontamination-in-non-healthcare-settings 

 https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/publication/COVID-19-waste-management-standard-

operating-procedure/ 

 

3.7 Assessments for Workplace and Workforce Readiness 

 
In our preparation for safe return to work, a process has been introduced to ensure that the council 

buildings/sites are prepped for the workforce. The plan is to undertake a COVID-19 Infection Protection and 

Control Risk Assessment for each public building and workplace over the coming weeks and months. A new 

Workplace Readiness Risk Assessment Guidance is launched and is accompanied by the 'Working Safely 

During COVID-19’ manager’s pack covering risk assessments for individual employees to determine levels of 

vulnerability and to assess those best able to return to their usual workplaces at the appropriate time. 

Together these documents form the key parts of our 6 Essential steps to achieve workplace readiness 

process (see   

Page 26

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-decontamination-in-non-healthcare-settings/covid-19-decontamination-in-non-healthcare-settings
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-decontamination-in-non-healthcare-settings/covid-19-decontamination-in-non-healthcare-settings
https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/publication/covid-19-waste-management-standard-operating-procedure/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/publication/covid-19-waste-management-standard-operating-procedure/


16 | P a g e  
 

Prevention Appendices). The risk assessments carried out so far have resulted in significant alterations being 
made to workplaces to deal with infection protection and control including controlled access and egress, one 
way systems, hand sanitizer machines, increase signage and reduced desk capacity. 
 

3.8 Closure of settings 

 

Closure of settings is additional measure to contain the virus, however, it can have an indirect impact on 

enabling maximum care capacity. Closures can reduce the risk of fatality during an outbreak by reducing the 

risk of transmission and the number of cases. In response to an outbreak, specific settings will need to be 

closed down to minimise infection to COVID-19, or create a cohort unit in some cases. For example, care 

homes with an outbreak in Rochdale will close to transfer of new residents to avoid further spread. 

 

Some key settings that could be closed down are, 

 

 Care Homes or long term facilities 

 Prison or prescribed place of detention 

 Hospital or Healthcare 

 Schools, colleges & Universities 

 Hostels and Homeless Shelters 

 

Guidance around closure of settings is provided via the IPC duty desk. A separate procedure has been 

established for the care homes to contact the Infection Control Lead Nurse when an outbreak is suspected.  

 

Relevant Guidance: 

 

https://www.publichealth.hscni.net/publications/guidance-management-COVID-19-care-homes-and-other-

residential-facilities 

https://www.publichealth.hscni.net/sites/default/files/2020-06/V7%20outbreaks%2027052020.pdf 

 

  

Page 27

https://www.publichealth.hscni.net/publications/guidance-management-covid-19-care-homes-and-other-residential-facilities
https://www.publichealth.hscni.net/publications/guidance-management-covid-19-care-homes-and-other-residential-facilities
https://www.publichealth.hscni.net/sites/default/files/2020-06/V7%20outbreaks%2027052020.pdf


17 | P a g e  
 

3.9 Prevention Appendices  

 

6 ESSENTIAL STEPS TO ACHIEVE WORKPLACE READINESS 

 

Page 28



18 | P a g e  
 

Chapter Four: Testing 
 

The main aim of Mass Testing is to minimise the number of people that come to harm through contracting 

COVID-19. Mass Testing refers to the end-to-end process of the Test, Track, Trace, Isolate and Support (TTTIS). 

 

The key features of a Mass Testing approach are; 

 To confirm the high priority cohorts for testing in each Pillar 

 To confirm the analytical capacity on a daily basis in each Pillar 

 To manage the demand for testing both in hospital settings, care settings and in the general 

community 

 To respond quickly and flexibly to changes in any of the above. 

 

In addition, it is a key priority going forward, that we are able to respond quickly and that we have the ability 

to mobilise local testing arrangements to respond to testing demand generated by contact tracing and 

outbreak management.  

Both the national and local approach to testing has evolved over recent weeks and is a key stage of the single 

test, trace, contain and enable approach. COVID-19 testing activity is constantly developing and is described 

using 5 ‘pillars’. In Rochdale, our current focus is on developing pillars 1 and 2; pillar 3 will evolve as and when 

antibody tests becomes available for mass testing. 

 

 National description What this looks like locally 

Pillar 1 Acute Trust led testing  - delivered 

locally 

NHS swab testing for those with a medical 

need and the most critical key workers. 

 

Symptomatic care home residents and 

whole care home testing for homes with 

greatest risk of asymptomatic carriage 

amongst residents or staff. 

Pillar 2 Nationally commissioned testing – 

delivered locally 

Mass testing is for anyone who has 

symptoms of coronavirus with priority given 

to essential workers particularly those at 

high risk and priority groups whether 

symptomatic or not. 

 

Whole care home testing – rolling 

programme. 

Pillar 3 Serology testing – Nationally 

commissioned testing – delivered 

locally 

The first phase of our antibody testing 

programme is to NHS and care staff. 

Clinicians will also be able to request the 

tests for patients in both hospital and social 

care settings if they think it’s appropriate. 

 

 

  

Page 29



19 | P a g e  
 

Locally, our key objectives are to: 

 

 Maximise, strengthen and build capacity in the use of pillar 2 testing whilst ensuring that pillar 1 

is used for our greatest need. 

 Support care homes in accessing the national whole home testing programme  

 Provide swift responsive local testing for symptomatic care home residents and staff  

 Provide rapid access to local testing for those who develop symptoms, prioritising front line key 

workers (and their families who are in self or household isolation) and the most vulnerable 

 Use intelligence to understand the need and demand for testing to inform how, when and where 

testing should operate   

 Develop a long term sustainable testing offer for Rochdale residents and the workforce 

 Ensure residents and the workforce understand arrangements in place for testing and how to 

access them 

 

4.1 Current testing available 

 

Essentially there are 3 elements to the testing offer in Rochdale: 

 Local testing – carried out and administered locally, targeting the most vulnerable residents and 

priority key workers with symptoms (and in some cases asymptomatic) 

 National whole care home testing – carried out and administered nationally on a rolling 

programme for care homes only regardless of whether symptoms are present 

 All other national testing –  for anyone within the UK who is symptomatic 

When we refer to local testing we are talking about testing sites that are based in Rochdale. When we refer to 

national testing we are talking about any sites based outside of Rochdale plus home testing. The table below 

shows what is available as part of the local testing offer. 

 

Local testing 
SPOA 

 
Direct booking 

 

 

 

 

These options 

have separate 

local booking 

arrangements 

however there is 

cross referral 

between them to  

direct the 

individual to 

most suitable 

option 

 

 

 
Walk-in 

 

Booking via contact 

centre 
 

These options 

can also be 

booked via 

the national 

portal and all 

results are 

manged 

nationally 

 
MTU 

 

Booking via the 

national portal 
 

All other national testing     

 

SPOA – Single Point of Access  MTU – Mobile Testing Unit 

 

Table 1, below sets out the full range of testing available both locally and nationally.

Page 30



20 | P a g e  
 

Table 1 - Rochdale Testing Offer 

What testing is available? Who is this for? How to access Capacity/Regularity 

Local Offer via SPOA 

(Drive through/ 

Community & Home Testing 

Offer) 

Drive through: Rochdale 

Football Club 

Crown Oil Arena, Sandy Ln, 

Rochdale OL11 5DR 

Essential workers and high contact professions (see 

table 2) 

 

The Single Point of Access (SPOA) will advise the best 

place for testing to take place dependant on 

circumstances. 

Email: hmr.swabbing@nhs.net  

or call: 07894 709 010 

Maximum of 70 tests per day 

Use of local (pillar 1) and national 

(pillar 2) labs  

National Whole Care Home 

Rolling Programme 

All registered Care Homes for all residents and 

asymptomatic staff. 

 

Operators supporting people with learning or 

physical disabilities, mental health issues or acquired 

brain injuries under age 65 can access tests for all 

residents and asymptomatic staff through the 

government’s digital portal. 

 

If you require support with the swabbing process 

contact our local testing team at 

hmr.swabbing@nhs.net  or  

Call: 07894 709 010 

 

Care homes should contact our Infection Prevention 

Control (IPC) team if they have a suspected or 

confirmed positive case.: 

InfectionControlDutyDesk@Rochdale.Gov.UK   

To apply for coronavirus tests for a care 

home: https://www.gov.uk/apply-

coronavirus-test-care-home 

 

Carers and nurses who will be swabbing 

residents in care homes should complete 

the online care home swabbing 

competency assessment before carrying 

out swabbing. Register here: 

https://www.genqa.org/carehomes 

 

To book your courier collection 

https://carehomecollect.co.uk/ 

Waiting for confirmation on the 

regularity of national testing 

through the portal. 

In the meantime a monthly rota is 

being implemented where care 

homes can collect testing kits from 

the SPOA complete testing then 

return to the SPOA for lab pick up. 

(pillar 2) 

P
age 31

mailto:hmr.swabbing@nhs.net
mailto:hmr.swabbing@nhs.net
mailto:InfectionControlDutyDesk@Rochdale.Gov.UK
https://www.gov.uk/apply-coronavirus-test-care-home
https://www.gov.uk/apply-coronavirus-test-care-home
https://www.genqa.org/carehomes
https://carehomecollect.co.uk/


21 | P a g e  
 

What testing is available? Who is this for? How to access Capacity/Regularity 

Walk-in testing site 

Rochdale Town Hall 

Anyone who has coronavirus symptoms and is able 

to walk/bike to the testing site 

Telephone booking: 0808 1964 100  

Seven days 8am – 8pm 

You will need access to a mobile phone, 

have an email address and photographic ID 

144 tests per day for local use 

 (pillar 2) 

 

(144 test available for booking via 

digital portal or by calling 119) 

Mobile Testing Unit 

Sites change each visit and are 

agreed in advance with RBC 

 

Anyone who has coronavirus symptoms  Next site is Heywood Sports  Village, 18th – 

20th June 2020, 10am – 3pm 

 

Booking via digital portal  

https://www.nhs.uk/ask-for-a-coronavirus-

test/test-centre 

 

 

3 days per month at a site agreed 

with RBC 

 

Capacity to do 300 tests per day – 

this will vary depending on the size 

of the site, the ration of vehicle to 

pedestrian subjects, and the hours 

of operation (pillar 2) 

National Home Testing Anyone who has coronavirus symptoms and are 

unable to drive or walk to a testing site 

Arrange a home testing kit here: 

https://self-referral.test-for-

coronavirus.service.gov.uk/  

 

Swabbing kits are couriered to home and 

kits are picked up next day 

Managed nationally 

(pillar 2) 

Regional Testing Site 

Manchester Airport 

Altrincham, WA15 8XJ 

Essential workers with coronavirus symptoms 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-COVID-

19-getting-tested#list-of-essential-workers-and-

those-prioritised-for-testing-england-only  

https://www.gov.uk/apply-coronavirus-

test-essential-workers  

Managed nationally (pillar 2) 

 

P
age 32

https://www.nhs.uk/ask-for-a-coronavirus-test/test-centre
https://www.nhs.uk/ask-for-a-coronavirus-test/test-centre
https://self-referral.test-for-coronavirus.service.gov.uk/
https://self-referral.test-for-coronavirus.service.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-getting-tested#list-of-essential-workers-and-those-prioritised-for-testing-england-only
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-getting-tested#list-of-essential-workers-and-those-prioritised-for-testing-england-only
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-getting-tested#list-of-essential-workers-and-those-prioritised-for-testing-england-only
https://www.gov.uk/apply-coronavirus-test-essential-workers
https://www.gov.uk/apply-coronavirus-test-essential-workers


4.2 Our Local Offer 

Single Point of Access (SPOA)  

The local testing service in Rochdale is currently delivered by Northern Care Alliance (NCA). This 

arrangement is due to end on the 15th July. Work is currently taking place in conjunction with the 

existing team to design a long term sustainable model of delivery. 

 

The SPOA assesses the requests for testing and offers a blended approach to local testing delivery. 

This consists of a drive thru, community, and home testing offer. We have increased our testing 

capacity by maximising use of national testing kits and labs, so the SPOA can now offer both pillar 1 

and pillar 2 testing. The team take a pragmatic approach when assessing whether an individual is 

eligible for local testing and advise them of the most suitable testing site on a case by case basis. This 

is to ensure that vulnerable and priority groups, as outlined in the previous chapter (Chapter Two: 

Priority Groups for protecting people from COVID-19) get the right level of support and we utilise the 

limited pillar 1 testing capacity most efficiently. 

 

The testing team manage the use of pillar 1 (local lab) and pillar 2 (national lab) using the criteria set 

out in Table 1, which provides a list of those eligible for local COVID-19 testing along with the lab 

capacity to be utilised. Local lab capacity is prioritised for the most vulnerable/high risk residents and 

staff as this enables us to deliver a full end to end service from booking to results and outbreak 

management. All swabbing is undertaken by the local team regardless of the lab that is used. 

 

The SPOA has the capacity to carry out a maximum of 100 tests per day, 5 days a week with the current 

staffing level. The community team work flexibly which includes weekends. 

 

All referrals come through the testing single point of access which can be accessed through 

hmr.swabbing@nhs.net or 07894 709 010. 

 

Table 2 - Local testing access criteria and lab guidance 

Setting National 

testing – 

119 

National 

whole 

care 

home 

testing 

Local 

Walk-in 

National 

Lab 

Local 

SPOA 

National 

Lab 

Local 

SPOA 

Local 

Lab 

Symptomatic older people’s residential care and 

nursing homes - staff & residents 
     

Symptomatic residential care, respite and 

support homes, and supported living for people 

with a learning disability, mental health need, or 

a physical disability – staff & residents 

     

Asymptomatic testing of the above       

Outbreak whole home testing of the above      

To support a care home admission       

Page 33

mailto:hmr.swabbing@nhs.net


23 | P a g e  
 

To support other admission where this is 

planned  
     

Schools - Teachers      

Schools - Pupils      

Nursery workers      

Front line council & CCG staff      

GP staff      

Front line voluntary sector staff      

Pharmacists       

Dentists       

Taxi Drivers      

Emergency Services      

Household members with symptoms from the 

above 
     

Everybody else       

 

SPOA End to end process 

 

 

Tests through national labs  

When national tests are used the results go directly to the recipient, usually by text message: 

 If the test is positive, the advice is to complete the remainder of your 7-day self-isolation. 

Anyone in your household must also complete self-isolation for 14 days from when you 

started having symptoms. If your test is negative, you and other household members no 

longer need to self-isolate. 

 If the test is positive for coronavirus, the NHS test and trace service will send the recipient a 

text or email alert or call you with instructions of how to share details of people with whom 

you have had close, recent contact and places you have visited. The recipient will be told to 

do this online via a secure website or they will be called by one of our contract tracers. 

Page 34



24 | P a g e  
 

 Currently we are receiving limited or no data from the national testing. An overview by 

organisation will be available for local management via a dashboard, the full details are to be 

determined following engagement with the national team.  

Mobile testing unit (MTU) 

Mobile testing units travel around the UK to increase access to coronavirus testing, responding to 

need, and are run by the military. Rochdale will have a mobile testing unit for a minimum of three 

days each month as part of a rolling programme. To date we have used the car parks at Hopwood Hall 

College and Heywood Leisure Centre.  We are currently in the process of identifying additional sites 

to increase our geographical coverage. New units are being brought into operation each day, find out 

where and book through the following link https://www.nhs.uk/ask-for-a-coronavirus-test/test-

centre. 

Whole care home testing  

Whole care home testing is carried out utilising national testing capacity unless there is an outbreak, 

then the Single Point of Access (SPOA) undertakes whole care home testing. This will ensure the best 

use of lab capacity. We are currently awaiting confirmation on the forward plan from the National 

Team on the frequency of future whole care home tests. Once this is known, we will be able to 

effectively plan how we support this programme. Further information on care home testing is included 

in the testing chapter (Care Homes). 

Walk-in testing site (also referred to as a Local Test Site (LTS) 

The walk-in testing site is based in the car park behind Rochdale Town Hall. Local Test Sites (LTS) are 

localised test sites that will feature in high density, urban areas, providing an alternative method of 

testing for those eligible. It is a walk-thru site intended to devolve more control to Local Authorities in 

their testing capabilities. The National Testing Programme provides the set-up and ongoing 

operations. Locally we’re driving demand and targeting priority groups with additional offers of 

support to maximise the capacity and prioritise local need. Each LTS is a self-test site. People using the 

site are asked to arrive on foot/bike and not use public transport, if driving to the site parking must be 

found away from the site. The additional benefits of this site are, 

 

 

Page 35

https://www.nhs.uk/ask-for-a-coronavirus-test/test-centre
https://www.nhs.uk/ask-for-a-coronavirus-test/test-centre


25 | P a g e  
 

Additional support for the most vulnerable 

The Rochdale Living Well service are working in partnership with the Rochdale Place Team and 

Deloitte, who operates the walk-in testing site, to coordinate additional support for the most 

vulnerable. A small team of volunteers and staff are able to greet individuals arriving at the test centre 

and offer telephone reassurance calls to residents if they become anxious. 

 

This offer is worked on a rota from Monday – Friday and are presently at the site between 10:00 - 

12:00 and 14:00 - 16:00. 

 

Greeters Role – is delivered by community champions and volunteers to be the first friendly face the 

resident sees when they arrive at the site. The greeter has been through the testing process so has 

first-hand experience and can allay any concerns. They ensure expectations are managed and explain 

any of the information in the pack if needed.  

 

Reassurance Calls - A Living Well team is available to take any calls from residents who feel anxious 

or concerned about the test or process. They also support with signposting onto other appropriate 

service. A health & wellbeing conversation takes place using informal brief interventions around 

health e.g. an individual could be supported to stop smoking and posted nicotine replacement 

vouchers to start the process etc. 

Antibody testing (Pillar 3) 

An antibody test is used to determine whether a person has been infected by a pathogen or not. In 

the current situation of the COVID-19 pandemic, antibody tests need to be able to specifically detect 

antibodies against SARS-CoV-2 with no cross-reactivity to other similar coronaviruses, which could 

generate a false positive result and thus wrongly indicate potential immunity.  

As of 24 April 2020, no study has evaluated whether the presence of antibodies to SARS-CoV-2 confers 

immunity to subsequent infection by this virus in humans. Therefore, the value of antibody tests is 

currently limited to answering the question of whether someone has had the virus or not, and 

providing data and a greater understanding on the spread of the virus. 

Antibody Testing Programme 

The UK government is buying tests on behalf of the devolved administrations, and each devolved 

nation is deciding how to use its test allocation. The government will be providing laboratory-based 

tests in the first phase of our antibody testing programme, to NHS and care staff. Clinicians will also 

be able to request the tests for patients in both hospital and social care settings if they think it’s 

appropriate. These tests require blood samples which mean they are not suitable to be used at home. 

While the results of an antibody test will not allow people to make any changes to their behaviour, 

such as easing social distancing measures, there’s clear value in knowing whether NHS and care 

workers and hospital patients and care home residents have had the virus, and in collecting data on 

the test results. 

Local provision of antibody testing 

Northern Care Alliance have a clinic at Rochdale Infirmary that can test 120 NCA staff a day. From 29th 

June this offer will be widened to shielded staff through evening clinics to ensure they can attend 

Page 36



26 | P a g e  
 

safely with less risk. From 24th June NCA will also offer testing to the North West Ambulance Service 

(NWAS). 

 

NHSE asked that all general practice staff be tested, Rochdale have so far tested 650 out of an 

anticipated 750 staff (it is the individuals choice). It is not yet clear how or when wider antibody testing 

will be available. 

  

Page 37



27 | P a g e  
 

Chapter Five: Contact Tracing 
 

Contact tracing is an effective public health measure for the control of COVID-19. The prompt 

identification and management of the contacts of COVID-19 cases enables rapid identification of 

secondary cases that may arise after transmission from the primary cases, and prevents further 

onward transmission. Contact tracing, in conjunction with robust testing and surveillance systems, is 

central to control strategies, and are a key part of the response for successfully reducing case 

numbers.  

 

On 28th May 2020 the UK government launched the NHS test and trace service which aims to help in 

controlling the rate of reproduction (R), reduce the spread of the infection and save lives. It will be 

crucial in tracing the spread of virus and will provide early warnings of increase in infection, locally and 

nationally.  

 

5.1 National Test and Trace Roles and Responsibilities (Levels 2 and 3) 

 

When an individual tests positive, their result will automatically be fed into the National Contact 

Tracing Service (NCTS). 

 

Level 3 (National Call Handlers contracted from external providers) are responsible for: 

 Providing advice to contacts according to Standard Operation Procedures (SOPs) and 

scripts. This will include the Household and Community contexts of cases escalated to 

Level 1. 

 Escalating difficult issues to the Level 2 staff.  

 

Level 2 (Professional contact tracers recruited through NHS Providers) are responsible for: 

 The interviewing of cases, and identifying their contacts using SOPs and scripts 

 The handling of issues escalated from Level 3 staff.  

 Escalation of complex issues and situations to Level 1.  

 

5.2 Regional Tier (Level 1b) 

 

The Tier 1b level is an integrated regional (Greater Manchester) and local system. The actual contact 

tracing will be split between Local Authorities and the Greater Manchester Integrated Contact Tracing 

Hub (GMICTH), described further in the section below.  In addition to the role of contact tracing, local 

systems will be involved in providing support to individuals and settings that have been affected by 

COVID-19. This might include supporting people who have been told to isolate, or managing the 

consequences of closing a particular setting, such as a school. 

 

The GMICTH consists of a blended team of staff from the GM system and from PHE NW working 

collaboratively to implement the requirements of Level 1 of the national test and trace service across 

the GM footprint, and within the wider PHE NW region.  

 

Page 38



28 | P a g e  
 

In line with national arrangements, the GM collaborative Level 1 arrangements will primarily focus 

upon the following as core responsibilities: 

 

Complex Contact Tracing with: 

 Potentially complex settings  

 Potentially complex cohorts  

 Potentially complex individuals and households  

 

Providing direct support to: 

 Those identified through contact tracing for whom adherence to self-isolation measures 

may be challenging, including links into the 10 GM locality hub pathways for our shielded 

and vulnerable cohorts. 

 

Consequence management: 

 As a result of managing an outbreak in a complex setting or within a complex cohort. 

 

Prevention / Proactive Infection Control Advice and Guidance: 

 To all key settings and cohorts 

 To the GM population. 

 

The GM hub will be the first point of contact for the GM system from the NCTS. It will provide health 

protection expertise and necessary support to the system for testing & tracing and outbreak 

management.  Much of the role of contact tracing will be more effective where delivered via local 

systems, where we have relationships with settings and communities, e.g. schools and local 

businesses.  There will, however, also be scenarios where the additional resource and expertise within 

PHE will be crucial to the delivery of contact tracing, e.g. with larger and with more complex and 

challenging outbreaks. 

 

The GMICTH will also provide 

 Development and implementation of training programmes 

 Development of guidance, best practice and Standard Operating Procedures 

 Development of digital case management system, joined up between GM and localities 

 Maintain flow through from national to GM to localities, and vice versa 

 Intelligence support where appropriate 

 Development of a central communication plan to support and align with local messaging 

and approaches where appropriate. 

 

5.3 Engagement between GM Hub and Localities 

 

There are two ways that localities and the GMICTH will be notified of a positive test.  The first, 

described above, is an escalation from the NCTS.  The following section describes how the GMICTH 

then interacts with localities, following that escalation from NCTS.  The other route via which GMICTH 

and localities may become aware of a positive test, is via local systems.  This is described later in this 

section.   

Page 39



29 | P a g e  
 

 

In Rochdale we have requested a tailored approach for Rochdale cases to reflect local circumstances.  

Where the GMICTH is notified of a case from the NCTS, before we’re aware as a locality, an initial joint 

assessment will be carried out and it will be determined who is best to lead on the contact tracing 

elements.  Some scenarios will be better managed at the regional level and some better managed by 

local systems.  We believe that the majority of cases will benefit from local knowledge and local 

relationships, and will therefore be managed locally.  However, where cases and outbreaks are, or 

become more complex, we will rely upon the expertise held at the regional level.  And if demand 

spikes or cases become too large, we will work with GM to bring in additional resource to support.  As 

part of this collaborative approach, we have committed to a flexible and evolving system, which we 

will regularly assess to ensure is working most effectively.  This alternative way of working will also 

allow us to test the effectiveness of our local contact tracing approach in comparison to standard 

operating procedures agree for Greater Manchester. 

 

Until a shared case management system is implemented, it has also been agreed that all activity 

undertaken at the locality level will be populated on an information capture sheet and returned to the 

GM Hub for updating CTAS and to be entered onto the HPZone. When a case is closed, a summary 

closure notice will be sent from the GM Hub to the locality SPOC (Contact Tracing Appendices). 

 

Where it has been decided that the GMICTH will manage the contact tracing elements of the case, 

localities will continue to be updated for three core reasons: For Information, For Action, and For 

Preparedness. 

 

This update will be sent to the relevant locality SPOC.  Where more than one locality has a legitimate 

interest this will be shared with all relevant localities. Consideration will be given for escalation ‘for 

action’ or ‘for preparedness’ if any of the following criteria are met: 

 

 Large number of contacts are likely to meet the proximity or direct contact definition 

 High numbers of vulnerable people are identified as potential contacts within the setting 

 Potential impact on service delivery if staff are excluded for 14 days from exposure 

 Significant consequence management concerns 

 Concerns around support needs of potentially vulnerable individual or household 

 Outbreak declared 

 Healthcare setting 

 Death or severe illness reported in the case or contacts  

 Significant likelihood of media or political interest in situation 

 

Section 15 of the GM SOP sets out the process when a case is initially identified by a locality, when 

considering whether to escalate to the GMICTH, consideration should be given to, 

 

 Level of confidence about the information received;  

 Whether case would require escalation to Level 1 via national test and trace; 

 Likely level of locality support needs; 

 Settings-based SOP roles and responsibilities;  

Page 40



30 | P a g e  
 

 

Again, in Rochdale, our default position will be that we manage the case, and we will escalate and 

work with colleagues in GM as required. 

 

5.4 Locality Level Contact Tracing 

 

As described previously, localities may also become aware of a positive case via local systems, 

particularly with schools and care homes where we have well established, strong local relationships.  

Presently our infection control duty desk which is also our Locality Single Point of Contact (SPOC) is 

closely involved in management of suspected or confirmed cases reported at the duty desk. The 

infection control leads work closely with various stakeholders and partners to effectively manage and 

prevent the spread of infection within the community. This also involves contact tracing to ensure that 

there is clear understanding about the close contacts of suspected and confirmed cases, guidance 

around isolation, cleaning and disinfection measures and management of consequences. Information 

about confirmed cases is escalated to the GMICTH to ensure that our case activity data is recorded 

and contact information for the confirmed case is forwarded to the national contact tracing team.   

 

Care homes are supported by our Infection Prevention and Control team. Upon the local notification 

of a case in a care home either by PHE or the home, the IPC lead will contact the home to assess and 

offer advice and guidance on IPC and outbreak management. The IPC team also advises on isolation 

of close contacts of the primary case within the care home setting, and agree plans for management 

of consequences, such as closure or staffing issues.  

 

It is clear that in many cases, we will become aware of cases requiring local action, before the GMICTH 

is aware, and in many cases, regardless of the way in which we become aware of the case, the 

management of the situation is likely to sit better with local authorities, rather than the GMICTH.  We 

have committed to work with the GMICTH to constantly review the cases and scenarios that the 

regional system are responding to, in order to better understand which cases should be managed by 

local teams and which should be managed by the GMICTH, and to ensure that the resource is allocated  

accordingly.  The system will remain flexible and responsive, and will evolve as our knowledge 

increases over time.  We are building a local workforce that is able to deliver against this programme 

of work, and can develop and evolve with the system.  

 

5.5 Transferring Data and Information: 

 

As a part of the new arrangements data will be transferred between the GM SPOC and Locality SPOC. 

Information gathered by locality SPOC upon contact will initially be transferred using a locality 

notification template via email. This is to ensure that case activity undertaken by our locality SPOC is 

submitted to the GM Hub for inputting into the HPZone. 

 

Patient-identifiable information will be shared using a secure email system. Where this isn’t possible 

it will be shared in a password protected document, with the password sent in a separate email.  

Page 41



5.6 Contact Tracing Appendices 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 42



Chapter Six: Vulnerable Groups 
 

6.1 Who are our vulnerable groups? 

 

The evidence available so far suggests that some population groups are at a higher risk of contracting 

or developing more severe symptoms and complications if they were to contract COVID-19 and this 

has been outlined in chapter two (Chapter Two: Priority Groups for protecting people from COVID-

19). The people at the highest risk, in clinical terms, are known to services and makeup our cohort of 

shielded residents.  The key characteristics associated with this increased clinical risk are having 

existing health conditions and being older. It is however important to broaden the concept of 

vulnerability to the disease beyond that of clinical risk. We therefore define vulnerable communities 

as those that may experience disproportionate direct and indirect adverse impacts of COVID-19 

 

This takes into consideration hazard, the likelihood of getting infected, where social distancing cannot 

be achieved increasing the probability of coming into contact with the virus, for example in large 

households, rough sleepers, certain occupations, living with a mental illness or being a carer. 

Vulnerable groups also include people for whom the COVID-19 pandemic has placed them in a more 

vulnerable position due to their social situation, such as people experiencing domestic abuse, multiple 

disadvantage, substance misuse, complex families and LGBTQ communities. 

 

In summary the main drivers of vulnerability to be recognised, and mitigated where possible, across 

these communities and sub-groups of the population include: loss of income and uncertainty 

regarding future earnings; loss of important practical and social support and connections; reduced 

access to essential information, goods and services – including through digital exclusion; diminished 

or interrupted care and support services; compromised ability to adhere to disease containment policy 

and to maintain social distancing; and fear, loneliness, anxiety, increased stress and other adverse 

psychological impacts. 

 

6.2 Current Offer 

 

In the Rochdale borough, in response to COVID-19, the Local Community Response (LCR) was 

immediately mobilised. The LCR aims to keep residents safe and well, and this will remain the primary 

route for people to access humanitarian assistance locally, levering in and helping to coordinate local 

multi-agency, cross-sectoral responses which will meet diverse and emerging needs.  In summary, the 

LCR consists of the following –  

Emergency helpline and 5 virtual local response centres (hubs) 

Due to the outbreak of COVID-19 many people in our community are finding themselves isolating at 

home, losing work, taking unpaid leave, looking after children or other family members, financially 

vulnerable, and struggling with their health and wellbeing. The issues are far reaching and in order to 

alleviate them, and allow people to get help and to help each other, a co-ordinated community 

approach was required. The Local Community Response (LCR) therefore aims to establish a 

coordinated response to the overwhelming offer of help from community groups and people across 

the borough, transforming insight and supplies into action and aid, connecting the voluntary and 

Page 43



33 | P a g e  
 

community response to our statutory sector emergency response in order to address our resident’s 

emergency and ongoing needs. 

 

The Local Response Centres provide:  

 Emergency food parcels  

 Assistance with shopping / medicine 

 Wellbeing assistance including signposting to mutual aid groups 

 Signposting/ referral to partner organisations / council services  

Specific activity reaching out to protect our vulnerable groups 

In addition to the shielded list we have collated information from a range of services and organisations 

to identify people within our borough who are receiving services or support which may identify them 

as potentially being vulnerable.  These residents have then been proactively contacted to identify 

where they may need additional support and to meet that need either via the local response centres, 

or by signposting them to appropriate services and agencies.  Through this route, we have been able 

to have been able to contact over 85% of the shielded cohort across the borough.  In addition we have 

had a specific focus on the following groups (more information is included in the mapping document). 

 Multiple Disadvantaged 

 Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 

 Homeless Groups 

 Domestic Abuse 

 

6.3 Additional Work to Support Test, Trace and Contain 

 

As the Test, Trace and Contain processes are developed and established there will be an ongoing need 

to ensure we minimise the impact of outbreaks on our communities and continue to provide support 

and advice to our vulnerable groups, in addition to the provision of support through local hubs 

described above. This includes working closely with communities to gather their knowledge and 

experience about cases in the community and creating two way dialogue to ensure we are able to 

manage by consent. Health equity and the differential direct and indirect impact of the pandemic are 

being considered through a mapping process, drawing on data, intelligence and local analysis. 

 

Mapping Process: Our vulnerable groups who experience disproportionate direct and indirect adverse 

impacts of COVID-19 have varying needs depending on their mental, physical and social situation. In 

order to ensure the appropriate actions around prevention advice, assistance and support is available 

across the Rochdale borough to meet these varying levels of need, enabling a successful contact 

tracing and outbreak management approach, a mapping exercise has been undertaken. We will 

continue to have due regard for advancing equality and addressing vulnerability and the mapping 

template will be a live document, continually updated to reflect progress, plans and gaps and to 

capture key information to inform our actions including: 

 

 Vulnerable Groups: complex cohorts and households have been identified and listed in the 

mapping tool based on our Rochdale three priority groups in which successful actions would 

lead to fewer deaths in the population, alongside additional insight and intelligence captured 

over the COVID-19 response to date. 

Page 44



34 | P a g e  
 

 

 Trusted support: against each of the vulnerable cohorts, key services, contacts, networks and 

groups that already connect with, or can reach out to, the vulnerable groups have been 

identified. For many people it is recognised that the way they receive information and how 

they then respond to a situation, (impacting on their motivation to engage and their 

understanding of the opportunity to alieve barriers) is very much dependent on their trust in 

who provides the material or how it is channelled.  Identifying trusted support services and 

networks not only opens up reliable sources of support to our vulnerable groups but also 

creates channels to feedback insight from the residents that we are most concerned in 

working with to ensure our offer and response meets their needs.  This will be used to aid in 

preventative approaches, in addition to supporting testing, isolation, and outbreak 

management. 

 

 Level of need / issues: Many of our vulnerable groups do not feel ‘capable’ to get a test, 

feedback their result, or to isolate. Within the mapping tool we have collected a summary of 

main impact and issues that being asked to isolate could cause, including any additional needs. 

Also any foreseeable challenges around accessing testing were captured.  

 

Key Actions: 

Provide support to vulnerable individuals / households and to vulnerable people requiring help to self-

isolate and to diverse communities requiring specific support: 

 

 The Local Community Response (with the emergency helpline) will continue to provide 

support and signposting to vulnerable people who are struggling to isolate. The offer, 

expertise and pathways are adapting as the needs across residents change whether this be 

around, for example, shopping, medication and access to food, mental wellbeing support, 

financial advice or links through to mutual aid. 

 Establish an informed support network and then messaging to our most vulnerable individuals 

/ groups so this is personalised with a key worker or support person identified in order to 

enable the person to test, track and isolate. This may require a swabber to go out, alongside 

individualised plans.  

 Many vulnerable groups are already known to services, such as adult and children’s social care 

teams, drug and alcohol services and homelessness teams. These teams will be mobilised to 

provide the support and two-way communications required. 

 The VCFSE sector / networks are already in touch with a wide range of our vulnerable groups 

and with some additional messaging, resourcing and training will be able to provide regular 

check-ins and more as required e.g. carer’s hub, LGBTQ Foundation, disability groups. 

 

Coordination of local communications and engagement: 

 VCFSE Grass Root Gatherings and Wednesday Webinars are being utilised to discuss 

communication routes and targeted messages with our communities. Consultations will also 

take place to shift the focus for community grants to encourage and support VCFSE groups to 

take a lead on providing the messaging and support for certain groups. If the key elements of 

Page 45



35 | P a g e  
 

community recovery are successfully embedded and maintained, communities are more likely 

to be resilient to future crisis and emergencies. If nurtured, relationships forged during times 

of crisis can be resilient and have longevity. These relationships developed as part of 

community recovery can also underpin well-connected communities with effective 

information sharing, high levels of volunteerism, strong social cohesion, and the ability to 

mobilise effectively during future crisis or emergency.  

 An Equalities Assembly has been established to create the space to agree solutions and 

approaches, and a specific BAME communication and engagement plan will be co-produced, 

with specific regard to refugee and asylum seekers who may require additional support. 

 There will be ongoing communications to promote the Infection control duty desk and Local 

Community Response to all residents, businesses and services. 

 A Communications group will develop a joined up, co-ordinated communication and 

engagement plan drawing together the learning from the mapping alongside feedback from 

services and our communities with lived experience, adapting and targeting specific messages 

through trusted people, key workers and teams to reach the right people.  

Maximise the number of vulnerable people accessing a test:  

 A range of different testing options will be offered to meet the sensitivities of our vulnerable 

cohorts and reasonable adjustments will be made to enable access.  

 An EIA of the walk-in testing site has been undertaken and actions initiated in response, to 

address the barriers identified in the mapping process such as mobility, a place to sit, toilet 

access, site designs to create a more appealing environment etc. 

 Clear messaging, including social marketing will take place to outline the options, process, 

expectations and support available. 

Continue with wider proactive and preventative work with particular settings and communities  

in order to minimise the risk of outbreaks/clusters of cases: 

 A work stream has been established to tackle digital exclusion, alongside building robust 

information sharing networks within communities. We are developing pathways for people to 

access testing who do not have ID or the appropriate technology (for booking, registering or 

attending). 

 One of the key barriers identified through the mapping to prevent vulnerable groups from 

isolating is financial vulnerability. Unemployment figures showed that the number of 

claimants in Rochdale went from 6,465 in March 2020 to 10,325 in April 2020, with the rate 

of 7.6% in the borough exceeding anything seen from the last recession. Also many residents 

are on zero-hour contracts and, with more demand for jobs, feel that leave taken from their 

work would increase their risk of losing their job. A sub group has been formed to address this 

barrier, identifying interventions and offers of support to strengthen resident’s confidence in 

their ability to isolate and take time from work. 

 Targeted work will take place to support those that, due to a combination of their innate risk 

profile and lifestyle or occupation, are at a higher risk of a bad outcome e.g. 60 year old Asian 

taxi driver. 

 Specific communities and individuals may find it hard to isolate due to their housing situation 

or caring responsibilities. In the Rochdale borough the Broadfield wing is available for 

contingency housing plans and the women's refuge also supports this.  

Page 46



36 | P a g e  
 

 Of importance will be the culture that emerges in priority groups as lockdown restrictions are 

lifted. To address this, and for community recovery approaches to be effective and 

transformational, we will continue to ensure that their design and delivery will clearly 

incorporate the views, insights and wisdom of community members and those identified as 

having additional vulnerability to COVID-19. 

 Many of the people in the priority groups would benefit from improved nutrition and actions 

to improve their ability to fight any infection and services will be re-focused to address this. 

This could include some lifestyle changes, flu vaccination and help with becoming healthier 

and avoiding use of hospital services. 

  

Page 47



37 | P a g e  
 

Chapter Seven: Complex Settings 
 

7.1 Care Homes 

 

Care homes have been a priority setting for our Borough since the onset of the pandemic. A multi-

agency group of senior leaders and specialists from public health, Infection control, adult care, NHS 

Trust, primary care and CCG ensure that we implement a prevention programme, have a robust 

response to each case and outbreak in any care homes and regularly review and agree our combined 

action plans for outbreak response and recovery. This group is overseen by the Director of Public 

Health and Wellbeing and ensures our local action is based on regular reviews of evidence and learning 

from local practice. Although we compare positively with other areas, care home residents, staff and 

services have been significantly affected by COVID-19 during the first phase of the pandemic with high 

numbers of cases and outbreaks resulting in a high levels of illness and deaths. This setting continues 

to be prioritised. 

Prevention 

A review of evidence, local outbreaks and action to date was undertaken in May and June 2020 and 

this review identified the following key areas to prevent transmission of the virus in care homes, and 

our local action plan includes all of these areas.  

 

a. Infection Prevention  

 Clear guidance on IPC and outbreak management to all homes  

 Regular weekly bulletins and teleconferences with care homes 

 PPE training completed in line with CNO offer and longer term plans for IPC to continue rolling 

programmes of training 

 PPE used correctly by all staff and visitors according to IPC guidelines for sustained community 

transmission including training of all staff 

 PPE stocks in place at all times and a local hub has been established and can provide PPE to 

homes as needed  

 Cleaning practices and products in place 

 Good management of the environment in line with guidance  

 Uniform polices  

b. Staffing 

 All staff with symptoms do not attend work according to guidance and staff routinely tested  

 Limiting Staff rotation and interaction  

 Ensuring good levels of staffing at all times  

c. Visiting 

 Stopping or limiting visiting during outbreaks and periods high community transmission 

 Visiting policies reviewed, guidance developed and policies in place at homes  as we move 

forward 

d. Resident isolation and cohorting: 

 Isolation and cohorting where possible of residents with symptoms or a positive result 

diagnosed at the home 

Page 48



38 | P a g e  
 

 A low threshold of suspicion has been in place and advised for care homes based on a wide 

range of symptoms  

e. Admission and discharge  

 Testing of residents and results available to home prior to discharge  

 Step down discharge planning and arrangements in place between hospital and home and 

agreed safe placement for any positive cases to protect residents  

 Testing available prior to admission from community if required 

 

It should  be noted that the review identified that COVID-19 was not the only reason for excess deaths 

reported in care homes and some of these actions are also intended to prevent excess deaths in 

general as we learn more about whether all of these deaths were due to unreported COVID-19 or 

other factors were involved. Deaths for care home residents occurred at the home or in hospital so to 

protect this vulnerable group it is essential that the prevention of transmission in a hospital setting is 

also robust for this vulnerable group. 

Testing 

Whole care home testing is carried out utilising national testing capacity unless there is an outbreak, 

then the SPOA undertakes whole care home testing. All registered care homes can apply for 

coronavirus tests to test the residents and/or staff in a care home. Care homes can apply regardless 

of whether residents or staff have coronavirus symptoms. All care homes in the borough have now 

accessed the first round of testing in the rolling programme. For care homes that require additional 

support with swabbing, a support package has also been put in place. This package provides support 

with the administration and utilises our local testing expertise through the SPOA, to provide advice 

and guidance to care homes.  

 

Carers and nurses who will be swabbing residents in care homes should complete the online care 

home swabbing competency assessment before carrying out swabbing, via the following link: 

https://www.genqa.org/carehomes  

 

Care homes are advised to contact our Infection Prevention Control (IPC) team if they have a 

suspected or confirmed positive case.  Results of all positive cases and outbreaks are followed upon 

the receipt of a result with the home by the local infection control team. The IPC team will provide 

advice and arrange tests. See Table 1 in the Testing chapter for links and contact details. 

 

We are currently awaiting confirmation on the forward plan from the National Team on the frequency 

of future whole care home tests. Once this is known, we will be able to effectively plan how we support 

this programme.  

 

Staff testing: 

Essential workers and high contact professions can be tested via the SPOA at any time, Table 2 in 

Chapter Four: Testing, lists who can be tested and Table 1 has contact and booking details. 

 

Residents: 

Resident test can be agreed as part of a clinical assessment by health and care staff, part of an 

outbreak assessment or part of routine surveillance. Testing will be agreed with the resident, clinical 

Page 49

https://www.genqa.org/carehomes


39 | P a g e  
 

team and home as appropriate.  The Mental Health Capacity and Testing Guidance has been produced 

and is available from adult social care and safeguarding team. 

 

Contact Tracing 

All contact tracing and testing responsibilities will be passed directly to local systems, without going 

via the GM Integrated Contact Tracing Hub.  As has been practice to date, contact tracing within the 

care home setting, will be conducted by our local infection control leads, with support from the public 

health team. 

 

Outbreak management  

All positive or possible cases when notified to the specialist infection control team are followed up 

with a telephone call to the care home manager for assessment and to agree action. All possible cases 

are managed as though positive until a test result is obtained. Local follow up is by the local IPC team. 

The local Infection Control team provide advice on case and outbreak management in hours and the 

North West Public Health England team provide out of hours and at weekends so that homes have 

public health advice at all times. This information has been disseminated to all homes 

 

Information about cases can come to the team from the SPOC, PHE or direct from the home or we can 

be alerted by adult care or another partner service. All notifications are directed to the specialist IPC 

team for assessment in hours and PHE for out of hours support if needed.  

 

Upon local notification of a case in a care home by PHE or a home the IPC lead will contact the home 

to assess and offer advice and guidance on IPC and outbreak management. If required issues are 

escalated to agreed service contacts. These can be in relation to a range of issues both in relation to 

managing the outbreak and dealing with any consequences of this. These can include; 

 

 Resident and staff isolation and cohorting  

 IPC advice and support to managers  

 PPE supplies, advice and training  

 Training,  

 Testing of residents or staff 

 Health services provision and support  

 Safeguarding concerns 

 Business continuity issues   

 Communication plan 

 

All action is logged by the IPC team. Outbreak plans and sit reps are reviewed weekly by key leads and 

regular reporting is provided to the Adult care sit rep group, DsPH and Gold Control 

For more complex outbreaks an Outbreak Control (OCT) model would be used to agree action across 

agencies and services. Advice and guidance is provided on all matters relating to infection control, 

including disinfection, laundry, waste management, and individual client management. A local 

guidance document has been produced to bring all of the information together. 

 

Page 50



40 | P a g e  
 

Consequence Management 

 

Business Continuity 

All homes are expected to have up to date business continuity plans. In a small number of cases it has 

been seen that widespread testing of staff can result in staffing issues if a number of staff return a 

positive result. Homes have been asked to plan for this scenario and adult care and NHS have put in 

place contingency support plans should they be needed. These would be accessed via usual on call 

and support routes. 

 

PPE - Longer term plans are put in place to ensure PPE requirements are met.  

 

Nursing support 

The work implementing the Chief Nursing Officer training undertaken by CCG nurses has resulted in 

work being planned to develop more integrated working and support across care homes, primary care, 

community  and CCG nurses 

 

Routine infection control support, training and audit 

The routine infection control support for all homes including training, audit and support for other 

issues has been recognised and planning is in place to increase the team’s capacity to meet expected 

demand from September 2020. 

 

Guidance 

National guidance is available at 

- https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/COVID-19-how-to-work-safely-in-care-homes 

- https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/coronavirus-COVID-19-social-care-guidance 

- Local guidance has also been provided to care homes on a regular basis as guidance has 

changed over time and we have brought key elements together to assist homes to access 

information. These have been sent to homes and discussed at the weekly calls.  

 

 

 

  

Page 51

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-how-to-work-safely-in-care-homes
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/coronavirus-covid-19-social-care-guidance


41 | P a g e  
 

7.2 Schools 

Prevention 
Public Health is working with a wide range of colleagues/teams to ensure children’s services including 

schools are actively supported through the emergency. This collaborative approach includes 

colleagues within the children’s services but also from Health and Safety, Human resources, Facilities 

Management and Union representatives where required. 

 

Public Health have supported a number of COVID-19 Subgroups Chaired by the DCS including Early 

Help and Schools and Children’s Social care, providing infection control advice focusing on the 

following protective measures: 

 

 Social distancing 

 Hand and respiratory hygiene 

 Cleaning and disinfection 

 Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)  

 Self-Isolation 

 

Clear and timely communication with Head Teachers has been a key component of our COVID-19 
management plan.  In order to support Head Teachers in understanding and interpreting the guidance, 
specific Infection Control information for schools has been developed (based on national guidance) 
and sent to all Head Teachers.  A FAQ was also developed in relation to PPE which helped Head 
Teachers understand the guidance in term of use of PPE in schools. The Infection Control Duty desk 
has been used by a wide range of children’s social care and school staff. Public Health colleagues have 
been able to provide tailored infection control advice in order to improve knowledge and foster 
confidence in the ability of staff and officers to carry out their day to day work.     
 
In addition, preventive measures have been a focus of the support provided to Head Teachers of 
Special Schools where specific advice has been provided in relation to infection control measures 
when supporting children with special needs. Public Health has also reviewed the risk assessments in 
relation to school cleaning and meals provision as well as the domiciliary Occupational Therapy Team 
who support children with disabilities. 
 
In order to provide early support to Head Teachers in developing their plans to open schools to a wider 
cohort of children from 15th June 2020 the DCS with the Head of Schools have held regular meetings 
with Head Teachers including Head Teachers of Special schools. Public Health have contributed to 
these meetings and provided advice and support in relation to the full range of preventive measures.  
Following this, Head Teachers were required to submit a risk assessment and recovery plan prior to 
the wider opening of schools. The risk assessments were quality assured by a panel made up of the 
following service areas:   
 

 Public Health  

 Facilities Management 

 Health and Safety 

 School Organisation 

 Building Management  

 Schools Human Resources  

 School Improvement 

Page 52



42 | P a g e  
 

 

Each risk assessment was reviewed by each service area and schools received feedback following the 

panel decisions. The intensive support to schools including the quality assurance panel reviews of the 

risk assessments of all schools (88) was to ensure schools are prepared for wider opening in the agreed 

date. Risk assessments are living documents and will need to remain under continual review, taking 

account of implementation and any changes in circumstances. The Local Authority will continue to 

monitor queries and concerns through the Schools COVID-19 inbox and if appropriate provide support 

in reconsidering the risk assessment where appropriate. It has also been agreed that the Schools 

COVID-19 and COVID-19 Reporting inboxes for schools will frequently redirect infection control, cases 

and outbreak related queries to the infection control duty desk inbox.  

 

Testing 

School staff have been advised about the symptoms of COVID-19, the purpose of testing, their 

responsibility to isolate immediately, what will happen when a test is requested and how to access a 

test for school staff. This has been communicated to schools. Ensuring that staff have access to testing 

forms part of the risk assessment undertaken by individual schools and is reiterated via the Infection 

Control Helpdesk.  School staff have access to both the national and local testing centres.   

 

Outbreak Management 

Schools are aware of their responsibilities in supporting outbreak management, that is, in the first 

instance, the need to report cases and outbreaks of COVID-19 to the Infection Control Duty Desk. The 

role of schools in reporting cases and gaining advice from the Public Health Team via the Infection 

Control Duty Desk is a key component of the risk assessment undertaken by schools in Rochdale.  

 

Table 3: Outbreak Scenario - School have child or staff member who has tested positive 

Recommended response 
Usual partners providing the 

local response 

Common challenges for 

consideration/ 

 School to inform the schools 

service and infection control 

duty desk 

 LSPOC to discuss and assess 

initial scenario  

 LSPOC to advise about isolation 

of the case and their contacts 

 Advise and support schools to 

contact parents of children who 

are close contacts and staff 

members to inform them about 

self-isolation. 

 Discuss and implement cleaning 

and disinfection measures 

 Public Health (LSPOC)  

 

 Council Schools Team 

 

 Head teacher 

 

 Greater Manchester 

Integrated Contact Tracing 

Hub if more complex 

 Delay in reporting case 

 

 Schools fail to undertake 

initial infection control 

measures 

 

 Parents concerns/fears 

when cases arise 

resulting in reluctance of 

parent to have child 

attending school 

 

 Low adherence to 

quarantine measures 

  

Page 53



43 | P a g e  
 

Recommended response 
Usual partners providing the 

local response 

Common challenges for 

consideration/ 

 Discuss and implement other 

relevant infection prevention 

and control measures 

 Poor recollection of 

close contact history  

 

 

Contact Tracing 

Where cases are identified amongst school staff and pupils, this will be reported to Public Health via 

the Infection Control Duty desk (LSPOC). Having gathered relevant details about the case and the 

contacts the Locality SPOC will provide advice and guidance on actions to be undertaken for infection 

control, contact tracing within the setting, control of the outbreak and management of consequences 

as a result of the case identification or the outbreak. Confirmed cases (those tested positive) will be 

notified to the Greater Manchester Integrated Contact Tracing Hub (GMICTH) for information and for 

escalation to tier 2/3 for contacting tracing of household contacts.  

 

Consequence Management 

Staff and pupils are advised to self-isolate to minimise the impact of the virus and this could lead to 

potential consequences for schools. These consequences will be managed locally working closely with 

schools and council’s schools team to ensure minimal disruption occurs. 

 

In situations where consequence management is required for schools, the following actions will be 

taken: 

1. Case reported to the Locality SPOC via local intelligence or via GM hub and consequences 

discussed. 

2. Schools advised of infection control measures to be undertaken to prevent further spread 

and also limit any adverse impacts. 

3. The mitigation plans discussed and agreed with schools and the council schools team 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



44 | P a g e  
 

Chapter Eight: High Risk Settings 
 

A range of high risk and complex settings have been identified, for further consideration and planning 

on how to manage COVID-19 within each setting. These are split between health care and community 

settings. This chapter will be continually updated as we gain greater insights into potential risks, and 

we build our local intelligence. 

 

8.1 Health Care Settings: 

 

Healthcare workers (HCWs) are not only at higher risk of infection but can also amplify outbreaks 

within healthcare facilities if they become ill. Identifying and managing COVID-19 cases within health 

care settings is of great importance in preventing healthcare transmission and protecting staff and 

vulnerable patients. 

Primary Care 

Infection Prevention  

 PPE/IPC Training in place and evidence of application in practice 

 Access to stocks of PPE and appropriate use 

 Adherence to Primary Care Government Guidance  

 Continuity plan in case of further outbreak and notification process 

 Practice policy and guidelines in place 

Staffing 

 All staff with symptoms do not attend work according to guidance and staff routinely tested  

 Limiting Staff rotation and interaction  

 Ensuring good levels of staffing  

Patients 

 Social distancing within the practice 

 PPE for patients as appropriate to prevent nosocomial transmission 

 Virtual consultation including virtual hospital  

 Excellent health services in primary care and virtual hospital to prevent admission to hospital 

and manage health needs well at the home 

 Named clinical leads in place and active models operating across primary and secondary care 

 Appropriate admission and hospital care where clinically necessary 

 Appropriate shielding of vulnerable residents when in other settings in hospital or community 

 Robust Flu immunisation programme for 2020/21 season 

 

Dentists 

Infection Prevention  

 PPE/IPC Training in place and evidence of application in practice 

 Access to stocks of PPE and appropriate use 

 Adherence to Dental Practice Government Guidance  

 Continuity plan in case of further outbreak and notification process 

 Practice policy and guidelines in place 

Page 55



45 | P a g e  
 

Staffing 

 All staff with symptoms do not attend work according to guidance and staff routinely tested  

 Limiting Staff rotation and interaction  

 Ensuring good levels of staffing  

Patients 

 Social distancing within the practice 

 PPE for patients as appropriate to prevent nosocomial transmission 

 

Acute/Community Care  

Infection Prevention 

 Clear guidance on IPC and outbreak management and continuity and reporting process  

 Regular weekly bulletins and teleconferences across the system 

 PPE training completed  

 PPE used correctly by all staff and visitors according to IPC guidelines for sustained 

community/hospital transmission including training of all staff 

 PPE stocks in place always  

 Cleaning practices and products in place 

 Good management of the environment in line with guidance  

 Uniform polices for both community and inpatient settings 

Staffing 

 All staff with symptoms do not attend work according to guidance and staff routinely tested  

 Limiting Staff rotation and interaction  

 Ensuring good levels of staffing  

Visiting 

 Stopping or limiting visiting during outbreaks and periods high community/hospital 

transmission 

 Visiting policies reviewed and agreed as lockdown eases 

 Reasonable adjustments in line with patient/service user needs 

Discharge 

 Testing in place and results available prior to discharge  

 Step down discharge planning and arrangements in place between hospital and care homes   

 

Mental Health 

Infection Prevention 

 Clear guidance on IPC and outbreak management including continuity plan and notification 

process 

 Regular weekly bulletins and teleconferences across the system 

 PPE training completed  

 PPE used correctly by all staff and visitors according to IPC guidelines for sustained 

community/hospital transmission including training of all staff 

 PPE stocks in place always  

 Cleaning practices and products in place 

Page 56



46 | P a g e  
 

 Good management of the environment in line with guidance  

 Uniform polices  

Staffing 

 All staff with symptoms do not attend work according to guidance and staff routinely tested  

 Limiting Staff rotation and interaction  

 Ensuring good levels of staffing  

Visiting 

 Stopping or limiting visiting during outbreaks and periods high community transmission 

 Visiting policies reviewed and agreed as lockdown eases 

 Reasonable adjustments in line with patient/service user need 

OTHER COMMISIONED HEALTH SERVICES 

 This will depend on whether community or in-patient provision 

 All directives above apply 

 Premises will need IPC oversight and sign off  

 

LINKS TO SUPPORT THE ABOVE DIRECTIVES 

PPE 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-infection-prevention-

and-control/COVID-19-personal-protective-equipment-ppe 

TRACK AND TRACE 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/nhs-test-and-trace-how-it-works 

IPC 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-infection-prevention-

and-control 

PUBLIC HEALTH GUIDANCE 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/working-safely-during-coronavirus-COVID-19/offices-and-contact-

centres#offices-6-1 

WORKING SAFELY IN OFFICES 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/working-safely-during-coronavirus-COVID-19/offices-and-contact-

centres 

COMMUNICABLE DISEASE OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/communicable-disease-outbreak-management-

operational-guidance 

 

 

  

Page 57

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-infection-prevention-and-control/covid-19-personal-protective-equipment-ppe
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-infection-prevention-and-control/covid-19-personal-protective-equipment-ppe
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/nhs-test-and-trace-how-it-works
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-infection-prevention-and-control
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-infection-prevention-and-control
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/working-safely-during-coronavirus-covid-19/offices-and-contact-centres#offices-6-1
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/working-safely-during-coronavirus-covid-19/offices-and-contact-centres#offices-6-1
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/working-safely-during-coronavirus-covid-19/offices-and-contact-centres
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/working-safely-during-coronavirus-covid-19/offices-and-contact-centres
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/communicable-disease-outbreak-management-operational-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/communicable-disease-outbreak-management-operational-guidance


47 | P a g e  
 

8.2 Community Settings:  

Mosques 

Setting 

In Rochdale Borough there are 17 mosques represented by the Rochdale Council of Mosques who 

acts as an Umbrella body coordinating the activity and representing their members when engaging 

with authorities such as the LA / GMP and communities.  

 

Prevention 

As part of the phased re-opening of places of worship, all mosques and madrassahs remain closed 

except for one (Central Idara Mosque) for lone worship (not communal worship). Central mosque 

has carried out risk assessments based on MCB guidance and put in place infection control / social 

distancing measures. 

 

The Rochdale Council of mosques (RCM) is developing starter packs for mosques to enable them to 

undertake risk assessments and generate an action plan for implementation by the expected 

relaxation of rules in July 2020. Furthermore, measures will continue beyond the opening to ensure 

cleaning, infection control and social distancing are maintained.  

 

Outbreak Management 

Member mosques for RCM have 2 lead members who act as SPOC’s for the community and when 

authorities. These are listed in the attached document and will be responsible for contacting the 

Infection control Duty desk should an outbreak arise. They will also be responsible for implementing 

recommendations. Mosques are actively promoting the Local Testing Site through their 

communication channels with their congregation  

 

Consequence Management 

 Should an outbreak arise, the RCM will be in a position to work with its members and other 

stakeholders to close down the whole mosque or part of a mosque to undertake mitigation 

measures such as deep cleaning.  

 Regular communication with congregation will be key to offer reassurance and this may be 

undertaken through agreed messages on internal (Mosque Social media platforms, mosque 

radio) and external media channels (WhatsApp, Announcements through Local Crescent radio 

station). These channels will also be used to communicate with worshippers about an expected 

date for re-opening the mosque.  

 RCM and member mosques understand that if somebody tests positive for COVID-19, then they 

may be contacted by the tracing team and a joint decision will be made to close the mosque or 

part of the mosque until deep clean has taken place and a review of control measures within 

the mosque to mitigate the risk of further infection.   

 The RCM and Chair of member mosque will be responsible for procuring a cleaning company 

and may approach RBC to procure their services (e.g. Facilities Management may be 

approached to provide deep clean or another private company.  

Related Guidance 

Page 58



48 | P a g e  
 

RCM and member mosques have based their risk assessments on guidance produced by the Muslim 

Council of Britain who are a national body that has access to NHS England, Public Health, HSE, DHSC 

etc.  

 

They have produced a simple titled “9 steps to reopening a mosque safely” which is user friendly. 

Ove the next few weeks, this document will form the basis of the risk assessment, mosques use 

prior to any re-opening.  

 

 

Shared Temporary Accommodation for RBC (Homelessness Service) 

Setting 

Rochdale Council commission Rochdale Borough wide Housing to deliver the Homelessness Service. 

The contract specification requires the provider to operate an inclusive homelessness service 

including statutory assessments, prevention support, advice and assistance, relief and prevention 

of homelessness. They also deliver support to access interim, temporary and move on 

accommodation, to support households to access housing options in both the social and private 

rented sector and support to access specialist services. 

 

 There are two Temporary Accommodation units in Rochdale delivered directly by Rochdale 

Borough wide Housing.  Leopold Court is a 27 bed unit for single Male and Females. Along with 

Great Howarth Project, for families with dispersed totalling to 30 units.   

 ABEN- 26 units 

 Broadfield Hotel- Emergency C19 Accommodation 

 Bed and Breakfasts are also used for temporary accommodation. 

 

Prevention 

 All shared accommodation settings that RBC commission for Homelessness and Rough sleepers 

was stepped down in March 20. 

 There were a total of 16 shared units, these were reduced to single occupancy only and will be 

implemented permanently. Shared accommodation will no longer be procured. 

 All communal areas are closed and not permitted for use.  

 All residents are advised to remain in their room.  

 Move On is only taking place in a coordinated approach and in line with Public Health 

Guidelines.  

 Business Continuity and Contingency Plans have been produced by the providers of our Temp 

Accommodation to reduce and mitigate infection rates of C19 and continuity of services for our 

Homelessness Cohort. 

Outbreak Management 

 All Support Providers have their own action plans.  

 All move ons from TA were paused from the announcement of Lockdown. However, RBC are 

working with providers and RBH to look at some essential moves to relieve demand pressure 

from the homelessness front door and create some flow in the system. 

Page 59



49 | P a g e  
 

 As part of their contractual obligations they will contact strategic Housing SPOC Hannah 

Courtney-Adamson if an individual in their provision becomes symptomatic or a confirmed C19 

case.  

 Lead RBC officers will inform the Infection control Duty desk should an outbreak arise. This will 

then inform recommendations and mitigation management plan. 

Consequence Management 

 Should an outbreak arise, support providers will work closely with RBC to step down or decrease 

the accommodation to mitigate any further infection control.  

 No Visitors to the building unless an essential key worker such a GP, Social Worker. 

 Food and humanitarian aid to be made available to ensure residents can self-isolate. 

Related Guidance 

         

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/COVID-19-guidance-on-services-for-people-

experiencing-rough-sleeping/COVID-19-guidance-for-hostel-or-day-centre-providers-of-services-

for-people-experiencing-rough-sleeping 

 

 

Rough Sleeper and Wider Statutory Homeless Cohort 

Setting 

The Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI) is a central government programme aimed at helping people off 

the streets. Rochdale Borough Council have commissioned Rochdale Borough Housing for their 

Rough Sleeper Coordinator. This post will sit within their Homelessness Service delivered on behalf 

of Rochdale Borough Council. To sit alongside the Co-ordinator RBC have commissioned Sanctuary 

Trust to deliver a rapid response outreach service.  

The Outreach service will take a lead role in identifying and engaging with people sleeping rough 

across the districts and work directly with the RSC located in each borough. 

The service will include 

 a pro-active outreach service responding to local reports of people sleeping rough and targeting 

areas and individuals 

 working with colleagues and partner agencies supporting rough sleepers and the provision of 

ABEN. 

 assisting and motivating rough sleepers to access and make use of complimentary support 

opportunities including accompanying people to attend specialist support 

 responding to crisis situations  

 to assist in the collation of regular information including rough sleeper counts and estimates 

Prevention 

 Outreach Team have increased their outreach and ‘street walk abouts’ to ensure we identify 

any new rough sleepers. We have several individuals that have reported they would prefer to 

rough sleep in the open than go in to TA or B&B.  

 Anyone that doesn’t have a mobile phone to contact for emergency support is to be issued with 

one with the relevant contact numbers on. 

 PPE staff use all times. 

Page 60

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-on-services-for-people-experiencing-rough-sleeping/covid-19-guidance-for-hostel-or-day-centre-providers-of-services-for-people-experiencing-rough-sleeping
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-on-services-for-people-experiencing-rough-sleeping/covid-19-guidance-for-hostel-or-day-centre-providers-of-services-for-people-experiencing-rough-sleeping
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-on-services-for-people-experiencing-rough-sleeping/covid-19-guidance-for-hostel-or-day-centre-providers-of-services-for-people-experiencing-rough-sleeping


50 | P a g e  
 

Outbreak Management 

 As part of their contractual obligations they will contact strategic Housing SPOC Hannah 

Courtney-Adamson if an individual in their provision becomes symptomatic or a confirmed C19 

case.  

 Lead RBC officers will inform the Infection control Duty desk should an outbreak arise. This will 

then inform recommendations and mitigation management plan. 

Consequence Management 

 Should an outbreak arise, support providers will work closely with RBC to step down or decrease 

the accommodation to mitigate any further infection control.  

 

Traveller Sites 

Setting Setting 

Roch Vale Caravan Site Un-authorised Encampments from Gypsies & 

Travellers  

Prevention Prevention 

Site managed by Homelessness Team – part of 

Rochdale Borough wide Housing.  Warden lives 

on site providing feedback on issues arising on 

site. 

Information on “Walk Through Testing Centre” 

to be distributed to all tenants. Contact Jane 

Loveridge / Terence Loveridge on 07492058771 

There is a Borough wide injunction in place 

which results in any encampment being 

responded to and moved on within the hour.  

Outbreak Management Outbreak Management 

Homelessness Team have extensive experience 

of dealing with vulnerable client group and have 

knowledge of relevant Support Services in the 

Borough.  Warden will inform Line Manager to 

action emergency procedures. 

24 hour on call rota of Council Officers to deal 

with any issues arising at an encampment. 

Consequence Management Consequence Management 

There are 27 plots on site which are all occupied 

by a known tenant to the Service.  Each plot is 

able to self-isolate should any tenant become 

infected.  The uncertainty arises when unknown 

visitors come to stay with residents who may 

unknowingly be a carrier of the virus.  Being a 

“close knit community” most tenants are in and 

out of other tenant’s caravans or chalets along 

with their children - this is a challenge to manage 

/ monitor. 

Dependant on the size of the encampment will 

depend on how it is managed. E.G The Council 

can direct a family to our temp stopping site to 

self- isolate.  

Related Guidance Related Guidance 

Page 61



51 | P a g e  
 

Tenants have access to television and social 

media.  Therefore have access to Government 

advice being broadcast. 

https://www.gypsy-traveller.org/COVID-19/ 

https://www.gypsy-traveller.org/COVID-19/ 

 

 

 

8.3 Business Settings  

 

Setting 

In Rochdale Borough there are approximately 6500 workplaces / businesses 

 

Of these, the Public Protection Service has a regulatory role in the following business types; 

generally classed as “high contact” due to either face to face interaction with the general public or 

the large numbers of workforce at the larger scale premises.  

 

 Food premises (including supermarkets,  food manufacturing and food warehousing) 

 Non –food retail premises 

 Office premises 

 Non-food warehousing and manufacturing premises 

 Premises with a licence permitting the retail sale of alcohol (including pubs, clubs, restaurants 

and off licences) 

 Licensed gambling premises (including bingo and adult gaming centres) 

 Licensed private hire operators. 

 Licensed private hire / hackney carriage drivers   

Prevention 

At the start of lockdown, Government introduced derogations which permitted food businesses to 

lawfully switch to takeaway and delivery services, advice and guidance was sent to all the food and 

liquor licensed premises to ensure food hygiene and Covid19 infection control were in place during 

any subsequent business diversification. Advice and guidance was also sent to warehousing and 

manufacturing business who were permitted to remain operational during lockdown.  

 

To support non-essential retail  businesses during the second phase  of lockdown release (from 

15/6/2020), the Public Protection Service lead teams of officers across the Borough’s retail centres 

by visiting and providing signage, floor stickers and advice regarding the completion of risk 

assessments, social distancing and cleaning practises.   

 

In planning for phase 3 of lockdown release when the hospitality trade will reopen (from 4/7/20 at 

the earliest), the Public Protection Service is working in partnership with GMP. Advice and guidance 

is being sent to each licenced premises explaining and defining the expectations to manage 

infection risks but also the risk of ASB and violent disorder. Advice has also been supplied to all 

businesses that have been closed during the lockdown period to remind and advise them about 

their responsibilities around legionella management to ensure all aspects of the operation are safe 

to commence. 

Page 62

https://www.gypsy-traveller.org/covid-19/
https://www.gypsy-traveller.org/covid-19/


52 | P a g e  
 

 

Following many enquiries regarding sunbed and tanning salons, advice was provided and sent to 

each premises. The team has actively promoted the public to report any areas of concern regarding 

either businesses which they think should be closed during lockdown or lack of social distancing at 

businesses who may remain open. A single point of contact email address has been set up; 

Report.biz@rochdale.gov.uk The Team has received and responded to over 600 such enquiries. 

 

All business have been advised and where there has been either a blatant disregard or lack of 

confidence in management approx. 40 warning letters have been served. Revisits were conducted 

at these premises and establish all had either improved or closed and as such there was 100% 

compliance after intervention. Proactive telephone enquiries have also been made at “high 

volume” businesses where they may remain open during lockdown (i.e. petrol stations, 

warehousing and manufacturing etc.) and bespoke advice and guidance has been provided. 

 

Advice and guidance has also been provided to the taxi trade and  published on the Council’s 

website;  

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/health-and-wellbeing/coronavirus/Pages/infection-risk-

guidance.aspx 

 

Rochdale has taken the view that although omitted from the Government’s definition of public 

transport, the taxi trade and fare paying passengers are encouraged to wear face coverings. We 

have also supported and permitted vehicle owners to install protective barriers within their 

vehicles, if they thought this was appropriate for them. Advice and guidance has been proved to 

ensure any such screen is securely installed and safe in the event of any road traffic accident. Other 

Local Authorities have not permitted such a protective stance. 

 

Outbreak Management 

The Environmental Health Team has a wealth of experience and expert knowledge in dealing with 

infectious disease outbreak situations. The team follows the multi-agency outbreak control plan. A 

senior EH / Public Protection Manager will be part of the outbreak control team, directing the 

management of the outbreak. EHOs will be involved in case interviews / information gathering, 

contract tracing and infection prevention and control advice to cases, contacts and businesses 

settings linked to the outbreak.  

 

Consequence Management 

The Public Protection Service has strong links with GMP and is a member of the consequence 

management cell. This is a multi-agency   group involving GMP, GMFRS and various RBC 

departments, including media/comms from both GMP and RBC.  The group has been meeting 3 

times per week during the pandemic and has been actively monitoring and addressing 

consequences of the pandemic. It is ideally placed to therefore input and manage direct 

consequences of any outbreak. 

 

The Public Protection Service has an extensive range of regulatory powers across the Council’s EH, 

TS and Licensing functions and can therefore influence circumstances and practises and address 

Page 63

mailto:Report.biz@rochdale.gov.uk
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/health-and-wellbeing/coronavirus/Pages/infection-risk-guidance.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/health-and-wellbeing/coronavirus/Pages/infection-risk-guidance.aspx


53 | P a g e  
 

matters in a number of business and community settings. At the start of the pandemic the Public 

Protection Service documented an “approach to Covid19” which identifies a prioritisation of 

matters arising during the pandemic. The Service then documented an “approach to enforcement” 

which supplements the existing enforcement policy. 

 

Related Guidance 

The Service has been promoting compliance with Health Protection (Coronavirus) Regs;  

 www.legislation.gov.uk 

 

Signposting the public to the social distancing guidance and government’s FAQs;  

 http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/health-and-wellbeing/coronavirus/Pages/guidance-on-

protecting-yourself.aspx 

 

Signposting businesses to the variety of business sector working safely guidance; 

 http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/health-and-wellbeing/coronavirus/Pages/working-

safely.aspx 

 

Signposting to the HSE risk assessment toolkit; 

 https://www.hse.gov.uk/coronavirus/working-safely/index.htm 

 

Signposting to professional body guidance and trade association guidance; 

 https://www.food.gov.uk/business-guidance/food-safety-for-food-delivery 

 https://www.cieh.org/media/4070/COVID-19-food-delivery-and-takeaway-guidance.pdf 

 https://brc.org.uk/news/corporate-affairs/social-distancing-in-retail-stores-and-

warehouses/ 

 www.businessgrowthhub.com/coronavirus 

 

  

Page 64

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/health-and-wellbeing/coronavirus/Pages/guidance-on-protecting-yourself.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/health-and-wellbeing/coronavirus/Pages/guidance-on-protecting-yourself.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/health-and-wellbeing/coronavirus/Pages/working-safely.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/health-and-wellbeing/coronavirus/Pages/working-safely.aspx
https://www.hse.gov.uk/coronavirus/working-safely/index.htm
https://www.food.gov.uk/business-guidance/food-safety-for-food-delivery
https://www.cieh.org/media/4070/covid-19-food-delivery-and-takeaway-guidance.pdf
https://brc.org.uk/news/corporate-affairs/social-distancing-in-retail-stores-and-warehouses/
https://brc.org.uk/news/corporate-affairs/social-distancing-in-retail-stores-and-warehouses/
http://www.businessgrowthhub.com/coronavirus


54 | P a g e  
 

Chapter Nine: Data Integration 
 

Our ability to deliver against all aspects of the COVID-19 Outbreak Management Plan, is dependent 

upon having the intelligence to inform and guide our plans and implementation. 

 

To be able to deliver the plan, there are five main things we want to know about, these are: 

 

1. Is the total number of new cases of infection going up or down? 

2. Is the number of hospitalisations and deaths from COVID-19 going up or down? 

3. Are we seeing new cases in care homes? 

4. How successful is the test, track and trace system? 

5. Information to support actions to prevent new cases 

 

Underneath each of these would be a requirement to understand the detail such as where we are 

seeing potentially linked cases and outbreaks, where there is greater risk, how offers and interventions 

such as testing and contact tracing are being implemented and taken up, and where inequalities are 

beginning to emerge in any of the above. 

 

We also need to consider the qualitative intelligence, such as that collected in the mapping of 

vulnerable communities described previously, or through the reflection and evaluation of services 

implemented to date.  We are also working with partners such as Action Together (voluntary 

infrastructure service) and HealthWatch, to ensure their insight is incorporated into the plan, and its 

implementation. 

 

Understanding these areas in detail will inform local delivery and operations, will provide strategic 

oversite to the newly formed Health Protection Board, and will allow issues to be escalated to Gold 

Command as appropriate. 

 

9.1 Intelligence Oversight 

 

Since March, we have been producing a regular report to inform our local Gold Command meeting, 

which we have continually developed as more data have become available.  The Strategic Intelligence 

Team (an integrated team across CCG Business Intelligence, Performance and Public Health 

Intelligence) has led on this work, but has pulled in colleagues from across the wider council 

intelligence network, and partners. 

 

As we move into the next phase of responding to the pandemic, and as more intelligence starts to 

become available, we are reviewing the reports that we currently produce against what is required 

going forward, ensuring that the right intelligence is shared in the most appropriate formats, wherever 

possible. 

 

The Strategic Intelligence Team will continue to have oversight of the production of the intelligence 

informing the management of the outbreak, with senior representation sitting on the Health 

Protection Board. 

Page 65


	Agenda
	5 Terms of Reference
	Rochdale COVID Public Engagement Board ToR DRAFT  0.4

	7 Outbreak Plan
	2020-07-06-coronavirus-management-plan-v1, 11/08/2020 Strategic Place Board ( formerly HWBB)


